National River Health Program healthy rivers living rivers rivers for life

MONITORING RIVER HEALTH INITIATIVE TECHNICAL REPORT REPORT NUMBER 22

Australian River Assessment System: AusRivAS Physical Assessment Protocol

Authors: Melissa Parsons Martin Thoms Richard Norris





Department of the Environment and Neritage

Published By: Environment Australia GPO Box 787 CANBERRA ACT 2601

Authors: Melissa Parsons, Martin Thoms and Richard Norris Cooperative Research Centre for Freshwater Ecology University of Canberra ACT 2601 Telephone: 02 6201 5408 Fax: 02 6201 5038

Copyright: © University of Canberra and Commonwealth of Australia

This work is copyright. Information contained in this publication may be copied or reproduced for study, research, information, or educational purposes, subject to inclusion of an acknowledgment of the source. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to the above authors and:

Assistant Secretary Water Branch Environment Australia GPO Box 787 Canberra ACT 2601

Disclaimer: The views and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Commonwealth Government or the Minister for the Environment and Heritage.

While reasonable efforts have been made to ensure that the contents of this publication are factually correct, the Commonwealth does not accept responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the contents, and shall not be liable for any loss or damage that may be occasioned directly or indirectly through the use of, or reliance on, the contents of this publication.

The information contained in this work has been published by Environment Australia to help develop community, industry and management expertise in sustainable water resources management and raise awareness of river health issues and the needs of our rivers. The Commonwealth recommends that readers exercise their own skill and care with respect to their use of the material published in this report and that users carefully evaluate the accuracy, currency, completeness and relevance of the material for their purposes.

- Citation: For bibliographic purposes this report may be cited as: Parsons, M., Thoms, M. and Norris, R., 2002, *Australian River Assessment System: AusRivAS Physical Assessment Protocol*, Monitoring River Heath Initiative Technical Report no 22, Commonwealth of Australia and University of Canberra, Canberra.
- ISBN: 0 642 54888 9
- ISSN: 1447-1280
- Information: For additional information about this publication, please contact the author(s). Alternatively, you can contact the Community Information Unit of Environment Australia on toll free 1800 803 772.

AUSRIVAS PHYSICAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL



Cooperative Research Centre for Freshwater Ecology

University of Canberra February 2001







ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This document draws heavily on published stream assessment methods currently in use in Australia and overseas. Thus, we would like to acknowledge the authors of these methods because this document is somewhat a summary of their expertise. These authors are:

River Habitat Audit Procedure	John Anderson
Index of Stream Condition	Tony Ladson, Lindsay White, CRC for Catchment Hydrology and Department of Natural Resources and Environment, Victoria.
River Styles	Gary Brierley, Kirstie Fryirs, Tim Cohen and others at Macquarie University
Habitat Predictive Modelling	Nerida Davies, Martin Thoms, Richard Norris
River Habitat Survey	P. Raven, N. Holmes, F. Dawson, P. Fox, M. Everard, I. Fozzard, K. Rouen and others at the UK Environment Agency and Scottish Environment Protection Agency
AUSRIVAS	All involved with the AUSRIVAS component of the National River Health program at both a State and Federal level. Particular thanks to members of the current AUSRIVAS team at the CRCFE in Canberra for help with the construction of this document: Julie Coysh, Phil Sloane, Sue Nichols, Nerida Davies and Gail Ransom.
USEPA Habitat Assessment	James Plafkin, Mike Barbour, Kimberley Porter, Sharon Gross, Robert Hughes, Jeroen Gerritson, Blaine Snyder, James Stribling

Participants in the Habitat Assessment Workshop also provided ideas for the development of this protocol. These people are: John Anderson, Rebecca Bartley, Andrew Boulton, Gary Brierley, Nerida Davies, Jenny Davis, Barbara Downes, Fiona Dyer, Wayne Erskine, Judy Faulks, Brian Finlayson, Kirstie Fryirs, Chris Gippell, Bruce Gray, Kathryn Jerie, Tony Ladson, Richard Marchant, Leon Metzeling, Richard Norris, Melissa Parsons, Mike Stewardson, Mark Taylor, Jim Thompson, Martin Thoms, Simon Townsend and John Whittington.

John Foster, Heather McGinness, Vic Hughes, Andrew Pinner and Fiona Dyer of the River and Floodplain Laboratory, University of Canberra, provided advice on several of the variables included in this protocol, and also provided many photographs. Desley Ferguson and Melanie Saxinger provided administrative support.







TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part 1	INTI	RODUCT	ION	1
	1.1	Backgro	bund	1
		1.1.1	The need for a physical assessment protocol	1
		1.1.2	Aim and scope of the physical assessment protocol	2
		1.1.3	Structure of this document	3
	1.2	Develop	oment of the physical assessment protocol	3
		1.2.1	Evaluation of existing stream assessment methods	3
		1.2.2	Habitat assessment workshop	4
		1.2.3	Final recommendations for the physical assessment protocol	6
	1.3	Descrip	tion of the physical assessment protocol	7
		1.3.1	Philosophy of the protocol	7
		1.3.2	How the physical assessment protocol works	13
		1.3.3	Comparison of the physical assessment protocol and AUSRIVAS	14
Part 2	REF	ERENC	E SITE SELECTION PROCEDURE	18
	2.1	Introduc	ction	18
	2.2	Overvie	w of the reference site selection procedure	19
	2.3	Identify	broad regions on the basis of climate and geology (Step 1)	19
		2.3.1	Why?	19
		2.3.2	How?	19
	2.4	Divide t	he rivers in each region into functional zones (Step 2)	20
		2.4.1	Why?	20
		2.4.2	How?	22
	2.5	Examin	e the disturbances occurring in and around each functional	
		zone (S	tep 3)	30
		2.5.1	Why?	30
		2.5.2	How?	30
	2.6	Plot the	location of AUSRIVAS biological monitoring sites (Step 4)	32
		2.6.1	Why?	32
		2.6.2	How?	32
	2.7	Identify	the least impaired areas in each region and zone (Step 5)	32
		2.7.1	Why?	32
		2.7.2	How?	32
	2.8	Stratify	reference sites equally across functional zone types (Step 6)	33
		2.8.1	Why?	33
		2.8.2	How?	33

		2.9 Number of reference sites and frequency of sampling	33		
		2.10 Collection of test sites to validate predictive models	34		
Pa	rt 3	3 DATA COLLECTION			
		3.1 Sampling site dimensions	35		
		3.2 Overview of the variables included in the protocol	36		
		3.3 Control and response variables	40		
		3.4 Field data collection	40		
		3.4.1 General overview	40		
		3.4.2 Instructions for the measurement of field variables	41		
		3.4.3 Sampling times	42		
		3.5 Office data collection	43		
		3.5.1 Instructions for the measurement of office variables	43		
Ра	rt 4	FIELD DATA SHEETS	45		
		4.1 Overview	45		
		4.2 The field data sheets	46		
Ра	rt 5	INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE MEASUREMENT OF EACH VARIABLE	47		
		5.1 Overview	47		
		Control variables	48		
		Response variables	76		
Ра	rt 6	REFERENCES	165		
Pa	rt 7	APPENDICES 17			



INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

1.1.1 The need for a physical assessment protocol

The physical assessment of stream condition lies within a broad framework of environmental restoration. Most river rehabilitation methods recommend the use of a pre and post-restoration assessment of condition. For example, the 12-Step rehabilitation process of Rutherfurd *et al.* (2000) includes description of present stream condition and evaluation of the success of the rehabilitation process. Similarly, Kondolf (1995) recommends the collection of baseline data that can be used to evaluate change caused by rehabilitation projects and Hobbs and Norton (1996) stress the importance of identifying the processes leading to degradation or decline, and of developing easily observable measures of the success of restoration interventions. The assessment protocol described in this document addresses these aspects of river rehabilitation by providing a quantitative approach to the physical assessment of river condition.

The Australian River Assessment System (AUSRIVAS) is a nationally standardised approach to biological assessment of stream condition using macroinvertebrates, that was developed under the auspices of the National River Health Program (NRHP). Within the AUSRIVAS component of the NRHP a suite of 'toolbox' projects have been commissioned with the aim of either refining the existing assessment techniques, or developing additional aspects of river health assessment. One of these toolbox projects is the physical assessment module, which involves development of a standardised protocol for the assessment of stream physical condition. Construction of such a protocol requires simultaneous consideration of stream condition from a physical and a biological 'habitat' perspective. While there would seem to be obvious interdependencies between the physical and biological components of streams, merging them is a complex task because of the different paradigms that exist in the disciplines of fluvial geomorphology and stream ecology. However, it is envisaged that the incorporation of a physical assessment module into AUSRIVAS will provide a tool for evaluating and understanding the physical condition of streams that is complementary to measures of stream condition that are made using the biota (Maddock, 1999). This tool can be used to enhance the AUSRIVAS assessments of stream condition, and also to evaluate physical condition within a stream restoration framework.

1.1.2 Aim and scope of the physical assessment protocol

The AUSRIVAS physical assessment protocol is a method for assessing the physical condition of streams and rivers. The protocol is a 'stand alone' method of physical and geomorphological assessment, however, it also has the capability to complement the biological assessments of stream condition that are made using AUSRIVAS.

This document is essentially a 'field manual' that presents the background information to the method and instructions for the selection of reference sites and collection of physical data. Full implementation of the protocol involves collection of reference site information from both the field and the office, and subsequent development of predictive models. This document describes methods for reference site selection and field and office data collection only. It does not describe methods for the construction of predictive models, because these closely follow the AUSRIVAS procedures described in Simpson and Norris (2000). To make an assessment of physical stream condition using the protocol, a large number of reference sites must be sampled and predictive models. This is the same process that was used in the National River Health Program to develop AUSRIVAS.

The protocol follows the Habitat Predictive Modelling approach of Davies *et al.* (2000) that in turn, is similar to AUSRIVAS in both data collection and analytical procedure (Simpson and Norris, 2000). This approach has advantages over other physical assessment methods in use in Australia because it allows prediction of the stream features expected to occur at a sampling site and generates quantitative assessments of physical condition (ie. observed/expected ratios). However, achievement of robust predictions relies on the inclusion of a wide range of physical and geomorphological factors. Thus, the Habitat Predictive Modelling approach of Davies *et al.* (2000) will be strengthened with sampling design, data collection and analytical components derived from other physical and geomorphological stream assessment methods presently in use in Australia.

Additionally, it should be noted that this protocol is for use in freshwater rivers and streams only and NOT for use in estuaries or tidal sections of lowland rivers.

1.1.3 Structure of this document

This document is divided into seven parts. This section, **Part 1**, describes the background and derivation of the protocol and also gives an overview of how the protocol works. **Part 2** provides information and instruction on the procedure that will be used to select reference sites. These reference sites are then used in the construction of predictive models. **Part 3** gives an overview of the requirements for collecting field and office based data and **Part 4** contains the data sheets for use in the field. **Part 5** is used in conjunction with Parts 3 and 4 and gives detailed technical instructions for the collection or measurement of each field based and office based variable used in the protocol. **Part 6** is the reference list and **Part 7** contains various appendices to the text.

The protocol has been written with the assumption that the reader is familiar with AUSRIVAS sampling procedures, model development and model outputs. General information on AUSRIVAS can be obtained at http://ausrivas.canberra.edu.au/ and technical information can be found in the papers collected together in Wright *et al.* (2000).

1.2 DEVELOPMENT OF THE PHYSICAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL

Development of the physical assessment protocol involved three stages: evaluation of physical stream assessment methods currently in use in Australia, a habitat assessment workshop and derivation of final recommendations for a standardised assessment protocol. Each of these stages will be discussed briefly in the following sections.

1.2.1 Evaluation of existing stream assessment methods

The Index of Stream Condition (Ladson and White, 1999; Ladson *et al.*, 1999; White and Ladson, 1999), River Habitat Audit Procedure (Anderson, 1993a; Anderson, 1993b; Anderson, 1993c; Anderson, 1999), River Styles (Brierley *et al.*, 1996; Cohen *et al.*, 1996; Fryirs *et al.*, 1996; Brierley *et al.*, 1999; Brierley and Fryirs, 2000) and Habitat Predictive Modelling (Davies, 1999; Davies *et al.*, 2000) methods were evaluated against a set of criteria that represent the desirable requirements of a standardised physical assessment protocol (Table 1.1).

The Index of Stream Condition, the River Habitat Audit Procedure, River Styles and Habitat Predictive Modelling were designed for slightly different purposes and subsequently, each of these methods differ in their compatibility with the requirements of a standardised physical assessment protocol (Table 1.1). Each method performed equally well against criteria such as 'ability to assess stream condition against a desirable reference state', and 'applicability to all stream types within Australia'. However, only one or two methods performed well against criteria such as 'ability to predict physical stream features that should occur in disturbed rivers and streams' and 'outputs of physical condition that are comparable to AUSRIVAS outputs of biological condition' (Table 1.1). Overall, no one method met all the requirements for a standalone stream assessment protocol. However, each method contains important individual components that will be combined into a comprehensive protocol for assessing stream physical condition (see Section 1.2.3).

1.2.2 Habitat Assessment Workshop

Twenty-two leading ecologists, geomorphologists and hydrologists attended a workshop titled "Stream Habitat Assessment: Integrating Physical and Biological Approaches", that was held at the University of Canberra on May 2-3, 2000. Broadly, the workshop was designed to provide the rationale and background information upon which to build a standardised physical assessment module. Several critical areas of the development of the physical assessment protocol were identified at the workshop. These were:

- Study design issues, including division of the catchment into homogeneous stream sections and definition of the geomorphological reference condition;
- Scale of focus issues, including grain and extent and the spatial and temporal scales at which physical variables should be measured;
- Choice of overall assessment method; and,
- Use of rapid data collection philosophies for physical variables.

In addition, the Habitat Assessment Workshop also examined the types of physical variables that would be useful for inclusion in the protocol.

Table 1.1 Evaluation of river assessment methods against desired criteria of the physical assessment protocol. The representation of each of the criteria by the methods is designated as yes (Y), no (N) or potentially (P).

Criteria required for the physical assessment protocol		Existing physical assessment methods			
	River Habitat Audit Procedure	Index of Stream Condition	River Styles	Habitat Predictive Modelling	
Ability to predict the physical features that should occur in disturbed rivers and streams	N	N	\mathbf{P}^{1}	Y	
Ability to assess stream condition relative to a desirable reference state	Y	Y	Y	Y	
Use of a 'rapid' data collection philosophy	Y	Y	Ν	Y	
Use of physical variables that do not require a high level of expertise to measure and interpret	Y	Y	P ²	Y	
Use of variables that represent the fluvial processes that influence physical stream condition	Y	Y	Y	P ³	
Outputs that are easily interpreted by a range of users	Y	Y	Ν	Y	
Applicability to all stream types within Australia	P ⁴	P ⁴	P^4	P ⁴	
Incorporation of a scale of focus that matches the scale of biological collection within AUSRIVAS	Y	Y	P⁵	Y	
Collection of physical parameters that are relevant to macroinvertebrates	Р	Р	Р	Y	
Outputs of physical condition that are comparable to AUSRIVAS outputs of biological condition	N	N	Ν	Y	

1. Predictive ability relies on expert knowledge of the geomorphological behaviour of river systems.

2. Variables may not require a high level of expertise to measure, but a high level of expertise to interpret.

3. Currently uses physical data collected in AUSRIVAS, but can be modified to incorporate other types of variables.

4. There is no existing Australia wide system for assessing the physical condition of rivers. All methods are potentially modifiable for use in different river types across Australia.

5. River Styles uses a multi-scale approach to characterise and assess river systems.

1.2.3 Final recommendations for the physical assessment protocol

The areas of concern identified at the Habitat Assessment Workshop were considered alongside the evaluation of existing stream assessment methods to make a final set of recommendations for the content and philosophy of the physical assessment protocol. These recommendations were:

- The overall approach of the physical assessment protocol will be based on Habitat Predictive Modelling (Davies *et al.*, 2000). This method confers three main advantages in that it has predictive capabilities, it can be modified to incorporate components from other stream assessment methods and it is highly compatible with AUSRIVAS;
- Habitat Predictive Modelling will be augmented with sampling design, data collection and analytical components from other stream assessment methods;
- A hierarchical approach will be incorporated into the design of the protocol. The use of a hierarchical approach will potentially improve prediction of stream habitat features by encompassing geomorphological processes operating over a range of scales, and by incorporating the link between large scale 'control' variables and local scale habitat features;
- The broad geomorphological processes occurring in river systems will be incorporated into the reference site selection procedure to ensure coverage of a range of different river zones; and,
- The variables measured in the protocol will be critical to the assessment of stream condition and to the construction of predictive models. Thus, variables from existing stream assessment methods will be included to encompass the hierarchical linkages between large and small-scale factors, and also to encompass a range of indicators that may change with degradation. The collection of field based information will use a rapid collection philosophy.

These recommendations were then used to formulate the content of the physical assessment protocol (see Section 1.3), including the reference site selection procedure (Part 2) and the methods for field and office based data collection (Part 3).

1.3 DESCRIPTION OF THE PHYSICAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL

1.3.1 Philosophy of the protocol

The philosophy of the physical assessment protocol generally follows the same fundamental principles as rapid biological monitoring programs such as AUSRIVAS. These principles are predictive capability, use of the reference condition concept and use of rapid survey techniques. However, it is also important to incorporate principles of fluvial geomorphology into the protocol because there are fundamental differences between the properties of biological and physical information, and also between the way that information is used within a physically based predictive model. In a biological model, the relationship between physical information and biological information is fundamental whereas in a physical model, the relationship between large scale and small scale physical factors is fundamental (see Section 1.3.2 and Davies *et al.*, 2000). Thus, the incorporation of geomorphological principles that relate small scale and large scale factors underpins the physical model in the same way that the deterministic link between macroinvertebrates and environmental features underpins the biological model. The founding principles of the physical assessment protocol are discussed in the following sections.

1.3.1.1 Predictive capability

RIVPACS is a predictive modelling technique that was developed in the United Kingdom as a tool for the biological assessment of stream condition using macroinvertebrates (Wright, 2000). The predictive modelling approach used in RIVPACS (Wright *et al.*, 1984) forms the basis of AUSRIVAS, the Australian biological assessment scheme that has been used successfully to assess the condition of several thousand sites nationwide (Davies, 2000; Simpson and Norris, 2000). The same predictive technique has also been used for development of the Canadian BEAST predictive models for rivers and lakes (Reynoldson *et al.*, 1997; Reynoldson *et al.*, 2000; Rosenberg *et al.*, 2000) and for the prediction of macroinvertebrate composition using microhabitat features (Evans and Norris, 1997).

Recently, the predictive modelling approach has been applied to the assessment of stream habitat condition (Davies *et al.*, 2000). This study used catchment scale features to successfully predict the occurrence of local scale habitat features and will be used as the basis for the physical assessment protocol. The major advantage to using predictive modelling for assessment of physical stream condition is the ability to predict the local scale habitat features that should be present at a site. Subsequently,

it is then possible to compare what is expected to occur at a site, against what was actually observed at a site, with the deviation between these two factors being a quantitative indication of physical stream condition.

1.3.1.2 Hierarchical approach

There are many interrelated geomorphological factors that operate within a river system. These geomorphological factors sit within a hierarchy of influence (Figure 1.1), where certain factors set the conditions within which others can form (de Boer, 1992; Bergkamp, 1995). Geology and climate are considered ultimate factors because they directly or indirectly control the formation of all other factors in the cascade (Schumm and Lichty, 1965; Lotspeich, 1980; Knighton, 1984; Frissell *et al.*, 1986; Naiman *et al*, 1992; Montgomery, 1999). Geology and climate act to control to physiography of the catchment, the types of vegetation and soils that are present in a catchment, and the uses to which humans put the land. These factors control sediment and discharge regimes which in turn, sets the morphology and dynamics of the river system (Figure 1.1). Thus, in a fluvial system, physical and geomorphological factors at successively lower levels.



Figure 1.1 Interrelationships in a fluvial system. After Thoms (1998) and ideas presented in Schumm (1977) and Knighton (1984).

As a result of this hierarchy of influence within a river system, the deterministic links between different hierarchical levels, or scales, can be harnessed into 'raw material' for a predictive model. For example, Davies *et al.* (2000) used large-scale catchment characteristics to predict local-scale habitat features in an AUSRIVAS style predictive model and hence, was able to assess habitat condition. Similarly, Jeffers (1998) examined the River Habitat Survey Data (Raven *et al.*, 1998) and was able to predict local-scale habitat features large-scale factors of altitude, slope, distance to source and height of source. The physical protocol will incorporate the hierarchical links within a river system by using large-scale characteristics (or control variables) to predict local-scale habitat features (or response variables, and See Part 3).

In addition to the deterministic links between geomorphological factors at different scales, the hierarchy of geomorphological interrelationships within a river system gives rise to the concept of hierarchical organisation of river systems. Probably the most familiar application of this concept is the stream classification framework of Frissell et al. (1986), which was designed to encompass the relationships between a stream and its catchment at a range of spatial and temporal scales. Five hierarchical levels were named in this scheme: stream systems, segment systems, reach systems, pool-riffle systems and microhabitat systems (Figure 1.2). Each system develops and persists at a characteristic spatial and temporal scale and smaller-scale systems develop within the constraints set by the larger-scale systems of which they are a part (Frissell et al., 1986). The spatial and temporal scales associated with each system subsequently translate into a set of defining physical factors that can be used to identify the hierarchical boundaries of each system within a watershed (Figure 1.2). For example, at the top of the hierarchy, stream systems within a watershed persist at large spatial scales and long time-scales (Figure 1.2) and are defined partly by ultimate factors such as geology and climate. This pattern of characteristic scales of persistence and physical factors continues through the hierarchy of segment, reach and pool/riffle systems until at the bottom of the hierarchy, microhabitats persist at small temporal and spatial scales and are defined by dependent factors such as substrate, water velocity and water depth (Figure 1.2). Thus, the division of a catchment into component hierarchical systems provides a practical representation of the complex interrelationships that exist between physical and geomorphological factors across different spatial and temporal scales.



Figure 1.2 Hierarchical organisation of a stream system, and its habitat subsystems. The approximate linear spatial scale (metres) and time scale of persistence (years) for a second or third-order mountain stream is also indicated for each system. After Frissell *et al.* (1986).

In the physical assessment protocol, data are collected at two spatial scales: a large catchment or segment-scale and a small sampling site scale. As mentioned above, large-scale factors are then used to predict the occurrence of small-scale factors. While these scales of measurement represent the deterministic links between geomorphological factors at different scales, they also correspond to the stream system or stream segment, and reach or pool/riffle scales of Frissell et al. (1986; and see Figure 1.2). Thus, the scales of measurement used in the protocol target differences between these specific hierarchical levels. The microhabitat is not considered as an explicit scale of measurement, because the protocol does not aim to predict physical factors at this level of detail. Additionally, the stratification of reference sites by regions and functional zones (see Part 2) is a function of the hierarchical organisation of river systems. Geomorphological processes related to the formation of regions and functional zones operate over large spatial scales and long time-scales and thus, sit at the top of the hierarchy (Figure 1.2). As a result, reference site stratification is targeted at the catchment and segment scales, because it is desirable to identify the broad (rather than fine) differences in river types that occur at these relatively large scales. Stratification of reference sites across a framework derived from geomorphological process will also ensure coverage of a range of deterministic linkages between large and small scale variables, that may change across regions and functional zones (Schumm, 1977).

1.3.1.3 Reference condition concept

The physical assessment protocol uses the reference condition concept. The reference condition concept underpins many biological assessment programs including the United Kingdom's RIVPACS, Australia's AUSRIVAS and Canada's BEAST predictive models (Reynoldson *et al.*, 2000). The reference condition concept circumvents reliance on single control sites, and instead, aims to derive large sets of minimally disturbed reference sites that are formed into groups with similar biological and physical features (Reynoldson and Wright, 2000). Hence, the reference condition is defined as 'the condition that is representative of a group of minimally disturbed sites organised by selected physical, chemical and biological characteristics' (Reynoldson *et al.*, 1997). Assessment of condition is subsequently achieved by comparing a test site against a group of multiple reference sites that would be expected to have similar features in the absence of degradation. Comparison of a test site against a reference condition multiple sites improves confidence that observed degradation results from anthropogenic factors, rather than from inherent natural variation.

The reference condition concept was derived from work in the field of biological assessment of stream condition (Reynoldson and Wright, 2000), and has been applied successfully to the development of models that assess habitat condition (Davies et al., 2000). However, in applying the reference condition concept to physical assessment of stream condition there are two specific aspects that need to be considered: coverage of a range of different river types and definition of 'minimally disturbed' conditions. Reynoldson and Wright (2000) warn that the population of reference sites must represent the full range of conditions that are expected to occur at all other sites to be assessed. The physical assessment protocol addresses this aspect by stratifying reference sites on the basis of climatic and geological regions, and on the basis of geomorphological river types within regions (see Part 2). Selection of reference sites that represent 'minimally disturbed' conditions is also central to the reference condition concept, and requires consideration of the factors that may be acting to influence stream condition (Hughes et al., 1986; Hughes, 1995; Reynoldson and Wright, 2000). The physical assessment protocol addresses this by examining the large scale and local scale activities that may potentially be impacting the river system (see Part 2).

1.3.1.4 Rapid survey methods

In the last three decades biological monitoring has moved away from the use of intensive quantitative surveys, toward the use of rapid, semi-quantitative stream assessment methods (Resh and Jackson, 1993). There are two main advantages of

rapid survey techniques. Firstly, the effort and cost required to assess environmental condition is reduced relative to that needed in quantitative approaches, by using simplified sampling and sample processing techniques. Secondly, the results of these surveys can be summarised into a form that is easily understood by a range of non-specialists (Resh and Jackson, 1993; Resh *et al.*, 1995). However, in achieving these advantages, the design of rapid methods must maintain an ability to detect a continuum of impaired and unimpaired conditions. Examples of rapid biological monitoring techniques that have been used successfully to examine stream condition include the United Kingdom's RIVPACS (Wright *et al.*, 1984; Wright 2000), the United States' Rapid Bioassessment Protocols (Plafkin *et al.*, 1989; Barbour *et al.*, 1999) and Australia's AUSRIVAS predictive models (Marchat *et al.*, 1999; Smith *et al.*, 1999; Turak *et al.*, 1999; Davies, 2000; Simpson and Norris, 2000).

In recent years, rapid assessment principles have been applied to physical stream assessment methods. Examples include Australia's River Habitat Audit Procedure (Anderson 1993a, 1993b, 1993c) and Index of Stream Condition (Ladson and White, 1999), the United Kingdom's River Habitat Survey (Raven *et al.*, 1998) and the United States' HABSCORE habitat assessment, that is used to support the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols (Plafkin *et al.*, 1989; Barbour *et al.*, 1999). These assessment methods incorporate a range of physical characteristics, representing major geomorphological and habitat-template components. Variables included in these methods are measured using simplified techniques such as visual assessment and overall estimation, rather than the more time-consuming quantitative techniques such as surveying, replicated sedimentological particle size analysis, historical interpretation and transect vegetation surveys. The methods described above have demonstrated that it is possible to achieve a robust assessment of physical stream condition using data collected with rapid survey techniques, and as such, the physical assessment protocol will also use rapid techniques.

1.3.1.5 Includes geomorphologically and biologically relevant physical features

River systems can be viewed at distinctive hierarchical levels that represent a cascade of geomorphological interrelationships (see Section 1.3.1.2). The characteristic geomorphological processes that operate at each hierarchical level within a river system create the physical structure of a river (Frissell *et al.*, 1986; Harper and Everard, 1998; Brierley *et al.*, 1999) and in turn, the physical structure of a river provides a habitat matrix within which biophysical processes occur (Swanson, 1979; Brierley *et al.*, 1999). Biologically, it has been proposed that

habitat provides the templet on which evolution acts to forge characteristic life history strategies (Southwood, 1977; Southwood, 1988; Hildrew and Giller, 1994; Townsend and Hildrew, 1994). Accordingly, the environmental properties of any given habitat within a stream system will determine the types of macroinvertebrate communities found there. Therefore, stream habitat forms as a result of characteristic geomorphological processes and so conveniently sits between the physical forces which structure river systems and the biological communities that inhabit them (Harper and Everard, 1998).

There is much evidence to suggest that macroinvertebrates are strongly and deterministically linked to the availability of suitable habitat features. These features include substrate, discharge, hydraulics, riparian vegetation and water chemistry (Giller and Malmqvist, 1998). The physical assessment protocol is designed to complement biological assessments made using AUSRIVAS and thus, it will include factors that are important components of macroinvertebrate habitat. However, most of these environmental factors do not occur randomly within a river system, but rather, exist as a result of a suite of geomorphological processes that operate across a continuum of scales (Figure 1.1). The physical assessment and as such, it will include geomorphological aspects of channel character. These channel characteristics may not appear to be directly related to macroinvertebrates, but are important structural and functional components of a river system.

1.3.2 How the physical assessment protocol works

As an overall method of stream assessment, the physical protocol works in a similar manner to AUSRIVAS (Figure 1.3). Physical, chemical and habitat information is collected from reference sites and used to construct predictive models, which are in turn, used to assess the condition of test sites. The physical assessment protocol comprises the following major components:

Reference site selection	Reference sites representing 'least impaired' conditions
	are selected, and stratified to cover a range of climatic
	regions and geomorphological river types (see Part 2).
Data collection	Each reference site is visited once and physical, chemical
	and habitat variables are measured using standardised
	methods (see Parts 3, 4 and 5). In the office, a suite of

predictor variables is measured using standardised methods (see Parts 3 and 5).

Model constructionPredictive models are constructed using the same
processes and analyses used in AUSRIVAS (Figure 1.3).
However, in the physical assessment protocol, large-
scale catchment characteristics are used to predict local
scale features (Davies *et al.*, 2000). Thus, the outputs of
a physical predictive model are based on the occurrence
of local scale features, rather than the occurrence of
macroinvertebrate taxa (Figure 1.3).

Assessment of test sites Assessment of stream condition involves the collection of local scale and large-scale physical, chemical and habitat information from test sites (Figure 1.3). This information is then entered into the predictive models and an observed:expected ratio is derived by comparing the features expected to occur at a site against the features that were actually observed at a site. The deviation between the two is an indication of physical stream condition.

As mentioned in Section 1.1.2, this document contains information on the selection of reference sites, and on the collection of field and office data. It does not provide technical information on the analytical procedures used to construct predictive models from reference site data, because these are documented in Simpson and Norris (2000).

1.3.3 Comparison of the physical assessment protocol and AUSRIVAS

There are several similarities and differences between the AUSRIVAS sampling protocol and the physical assessment protocol. In addition to the elements described in Section 1.3.1, similarities between the two protocols include measurement of similar types of habitat variables (see Part 5), use of some of the same reference sites (see Part 2), use of the same analytical techniques to build predictive models and production of the same model outputs (Figure 1.3). The experiences gained during the seven years of the National River Health Program will be invaluable throughout all stages of the physical assessment protocol.



Figure 1.3 Overview of the analytical and assessment process used in the physical assessment protocol (left) and AUSRIVAS (right).

Although the outputs of the physical assessment protocol are complementary to the biological assessments made using AUSRIVAS, the protocol is designed to be a standalone stream assessment method. Thus, there are several unique preparation, sampling, processing and analytical aspects of the physical assessment protocol that should be noted. The physical assessment protocol differs from AUSRIVAS in the following ways:

- Reference sites only have to be sampled once to develop an effective predictive model. This is because most physical factors do not change across seasons. Local scale physical factors with a high temporal or seasonal variability (e.g. detritus, periphyton and instantaneous water chemistry measurements) are not used to construct the predictive models. However, these factors are measured in the protocol because they are strongly linked to macroinvertebrates, and may provide additional information on site condition;
- Field data collection for the physical assessment protocol requires slightly more time in the field than an AUSRIVAS assessment. The protocol has been designed to cover a wide array of local scale factors that show a response to anthropogenic influences. These local scale data are analogous to the macroinvertebrate data collected in AUSRIVAS and as such, it is important to measure a comprehensive set of local scale stream features at every site. The collection of a comprehensive data set increases the time needed per site, although this is offset by the reduced need for office based processing of local scale information. Once the field data have been collected they require minimal processing, save for some minor calculations from the cross-sections. Overall, the method can still be considered a rapid assessment technique;
- Sampling site sizes in the physical assessment protocol are a function of stream size and thus, can be several kilometres long for larger streams. It is important to examine physical features within the entire length of the sampling site and thus, the protocol may require walking longer distances than for AUSRIVAS sampling. However, the use of cumbersome sampling equipment has been kept to a minimum (see Part 3) to facilitate ease of movement through a site. Additionally, a boat will be needed to collect cross-sectional profiles from non-wadeable streams;
- The physical assessment protocol has a more intensive office based data collection component than AUSRIVAS. Office data collection consists of two parts: the selection of reference sites (see Part 2) and the derivation of catchment scale control variables (see Part 3). The control variables cover

potential hierarchical links between large scale and local scale habitat factors, so it is important to measure all of the control variables. However, many of these control variables can be measured easily and quickly using a GIS; and,

• Some of the variables included in the physical assessment protocol may be unfamiliar because they are geomorphologically based. These variables include cross-sectional measurements, sinuosity, some sediment measurements and some channel morphology measurements. However, these variables are an important part of the physical characterisation of rivers and thus, it is vital that they are measured at each sampling site. The method used to measure each of these variables has been adapted to suit a rapid sampling philosophy and detailed instructions on the measurement of each of these variables are provided in Part 5.



2.1 INTRODUCTION

The reference site selection procedure for the physical assessment module considers humans to be part of the landscape (Norris and Thoms, 1999) and thus, is based on the concept of 'least disturbed' condition. Collection of reference site information is central to the construction of a predictive model and in turn, this information is used as the baseline against which the condition of test sites is assessed (see Part 1). A reference site selection procedure that uses the concept of least disturbed condition essentially allows for the careful inclusion of sites that have inevitably been affected by humans, but which are considered to be the best available representatives within a certain area or of a specific river type.

The reference site selection procedure described here is similar to that used in the AUSRIVAS program (see Davies, 1994). However, slight modifications have been added to allow for the stratification of reference sites across a range of geomorphological river types. This stratification step ensures that sites from different 'functional zones' are included in the reference site database. Given that local scale habitat features will differ among functional zones (Schumm, 1977), the stratification of reference sites across these zones will ensure representation of the characteristic habitat features that are associated with each zone type. In turn, inclusion of reference sites from different functional zones will strengthen the robustness of predictive models for assessing a range of test sites and human impacts (Reynoldson and Wright, 2000). The existing AUSRIVAS reference sites will be overlain across the zone types and used wherever possible, although additional reference sites may be required in zone types that are currently under-represented.

In addition, the reference site selection procedure has been designed to accommodate several levels of heterogeneity, as a 'safety-net' for the robust construction of predictive models. The site selection procedure will incorporate a regional stratification element

as well as a functional zone stratification element, because it is not known in advance whether groups of reference sites will classify on the basis of State or Territory wide regional patterns or on zone type patterns. Thus, regardless of whether reference sites are grouped on the basis of regional or zone type patterns, enough sites will exist in each group to allow the construction of robust predictive models.

2.2 OVERVIEW OF THE REFERENCE SITE SELECTION PROCEDURE

The reference site selection procedure assumes that like AUSRIVAS, sampling will be conducted by State or Territory agencies and that ultimately, the predictive models will be set up on a State or Territory basis. Thus, the steps described below should be applied in each State or Territory. The following sections also assume a general familiarity with the concept of 'least impaired condition', as used in the National River Health Program and the development of AUSRIVAS predictive models. The reference site selection procedure consists of six steps:

- 1. Identify broad regions on the basis of climate and geology
- 2. Divide the rivers in each region into functional zones
- 3. Examine the disturbances occurring in and around each functional zone
- 4. Plot the location of AUSRIVAS biological monitoring sites
- 5. Identify the least impaired areas in each region and zone
- 6. Stratify reference sites equally across zone types

Each of these steps will be explained in detail in the following sections.

2.3 IDENTIFY BROAD REGIONS ON THE BASIS OF CLIMATE AND GEOLOGY (STEP 1)

2.3.1 Why?

The division of each State or Territory into broad regions allows the stratification of sampling sites across areas with different climatic and geological characteristics.

2.3.2 How?

Within each State or Territory, identify broad climatic regions which have markedly different rainfall and temperature regimes. These broad climatic regions may also have

characteristic vegetation patterns. Then, identify broad geological regions. Maps of geological regions can be found on the Australian Geological Survey Organisation's website at http://www.agso.gov.au.

Using primarily the information on broad climatic patterns, and secondarily on geological patterns, delineate a final set of regions that characterise State or Territory wide differences in both factors. The scale of resolution for the final regions should be kept large and broad. For example, a State may contain four major climatic regions, two of which encompass two major geological regions (Figure 2.1). Thus, the State should be divided into six broad climatic and geological regions. The broad climatic and geological regions.



Figure 2.1 Example delineation of broad climatic and geological regions within a hypothetical State or Territory.

2.4 DIVIDE THE RIVERS IN EACH REGION INTO FUNCTIONAL ZONES (STEP 2)

2.4.1 Why?

River characterisation requires the ordering of sets of observations or characteristics into meaningful groups based on their similarities or differences (Naiman *et al.*, 1992; Wadeson and Rowntree, 1994). Implicit in this exercise is the assumption that relatively distinct boundaries exist and that these may be identified by a discrete set of variables. Although river systems are continuously evolving and often display complexity, the grouping of a set of elements with a definable structure can aid in examining the physical structure of river systems. It may also assist in understanding why rivers have certain biological characteristics.

Geomorphological analyses of river systems often reveal a continuum of functions that change in an upstream-downstream direction. For example, headwater regions often provide a net supply of water and sediment to the river network, while through deposition, lowland alluvial river channels store sediment in vast floodplains. Changes in the flow and sediment regime throughout a catchment will be manifested by changes in river morphology and behaviour. Schumm (1988) suggests that there are three broad functional zones within a catchment:

- The headwaters of a river catchment are a primary area of <u>sediment supply</u> (Figure 2.2). The controlling processes are weathering and the down slope movement of this weathered material. The lack of floodplains in this upland area provides a high connectivity between the hillslopes and channel.
- As river slopes reduce and the valley floor widens at the boundary between the upland and lowland area, the dynamic nature of the river increases. This is the <u>sediment transfer</u> (Figure 2.2) area, where there can be high rates of sediment movement and the temporary storage of sediment both within and next to the river channel.
- Further downstream, as river slopes and associated stream energies decrease dramatically, sediments are generally deposited to form large floodplain surfaces. These floodplains are <u>sediment storage</u> (Figure 2.2) areas. The wide floodplain surfaces are often dissected by a variety of river channel patterns.

The geomorphological processes conveyed through these functional river zones will be incorporated into the reference site selection procedure and together with the climatic and geological regions, will form the basis for stratification of sampling sites across the landscape.



Figure 2.2 Broad functional zone types within a river system. After Schumm (1988).

2.4.2 How?

For the purposes of the physical assessment protocol, functional zones are defined as lengths of river that have similar water and sediment discharge regimes. Four zone types are recommended in the reference site selection procedure: upper zone A (low energy unconfined), upper zone B (high energy confined), transition zone and lower zone. Water and sediment discharge regimes manifest distinctive geomorphological characteristics in each of these zone types and thus, rivers can be divided into zones using three key indicators of channel character: channel slope, valley character and river channel or planform pattern. This section describes the four functional zone types, and the method used to divide rivers into these zones.

2.4.2.1 Step 2a. Functional zone type descriptions

Reference sites will be stratified across four functional zone types. These zone types represent a broad continuum of geomorphological processes occurring within a catchment and thus, will be applicable and valid in the majority of river systems found in Australia. Each zone type will be described in more detail in the following pages.

Upper zone A (low energy unconfined)

Upper zone A is characterised by long pools that are separated by short channel constrictions (ie. chain of ponds morphology). The pools form upstream of the channel constrictions, and are the dominant morphological feature in this zone type (Figure 2.3). Channel constrictions are generally associated with major bedrock bars that extend across the channel, or substantial localised gravel deposits that act as riffle areas. Local riverbed slopes increase significantly at these constrictions, representing small areas of relatively high energy that contrast with the relatively low bed slopes and energies of the pool environment. Overall, bed slope in upper zone A is in the order of 0.0001, with a corresponding stream power in the order of 1.5 W/m^2 . Stream power (ω) is related to the rate at which 'work' (sediment movement) is done or at which energy is expended in a stream or river.

The planform channel configuration of upper zone A is controlled by the valley morphology. Generally, the river channel has a small flanking floodplain (up to 30m) because of the narrow valley floor configuration. Hence, valley conditions limit floodplain development. Bankfull channel dimensions can be up to 30m in width, 3-4 metres in depth/height and may have a width to depth ratio of up to 10. Bankfull channel capacities do not generally exceed 30 m³ s⁻¹.

The nature of channel sediment or substratum in upper zone A consists of fine silt/clay material overlying a bedrock/cobble base in the pools. However, gravel/cobble or bedrock substrates dominate the short constricted riffle areas. Bankfull flows have the competence to entrain the finer bed substratum, however, discharges in excess of 50 m³ s⁻¹ are required to initiate motion of the coarser material. Thus, the riverbed in this zone type is relatively stable because discharges large enough to move coarse materials rarely occur.

Figure 2.3 Typical example of an upper low energy unconfined zone.



Upper zone B (high energy confined)

Upper zone B is a high energy zone dominated by bed slopes greater than 0.002 and often by steep bed slopes greater than 0.010. Bankfull stream power is generally in excess of 250 W/m² and can exceed 400 W/m² in steeper sections. Bedrock chutes, large boulder/cobble/gravel accumulations and scour pools dominate in the channel. Bed sediments are relatively immobile because the streambed tends to be armoured (ie. the coarse surface layer sediments shield the finer sediments beneath it). However, cobble and gravel accumulations are highly mobile during flood flows. The lack of any major sedimentary deposits, together with the high energy environment, suggests that upper zone B is an important source of sediment for the downstream river system (Figure 2.4).

Planform channel pattern in upper zone B is confined and controlled by valley morphology, and the river channel generally exhibits an irregularly meandering pattern that is superimposed on a larger valley pattern. Hence, channels in this zone have limited floodplain development. In highly confined sections, the floodplain will be absent and sediments will be added directly to the channel from adjacent valley side slopes. However, in less confined sections, small floodplain formations may be present and are characterised by a series of floodplains of different ages, inset into higher level terraces.

Figure 2.4 Typical example of an upper high energy confined zone.



Transition zone

The transition zone is characterised by mobile bed sediments, large sediment storage areas within the channel and an active channel (Figure 2.5). The presence of well developed inset floodplain features such as benches, point bars, cutoffs and levees signify the relatively active and unrestricted nature of this river-floodplain environment. Valley floor widths of up to 10km enable floodplain development and stream migration.

In the transition zone, the river channel is freely meandering with an irregular planform pattern. Sinuosity is generally between 1.7 and 1.95, and stream power generally ranges from 8 to 20 W/m^2 . Meander wavelengths are generally less than 2km.

The morphology of the channel environment is extremely variable with bars (point and lateral), benches (at various levels) and riffle/pool sequences present alone or in combination. These in-channel storage features reflect high rates of sediment transport. Riverbed sediments typically have a bimodal distribution (median grain size of 64 to 100mm) and the bed is usually highly mobile.



Figure 2.5 Typical example of a transition zone.

Lower zone

A distinguishing feature of the lower zone is the significant increase in the width of the valley floor (>15km) and associated floodplain surface (Figure 2.6). There are strong and active links between the river and the floodplain, and the lower zone may contain well developed features such as distributary or flood channels (channels that carry water onto the floodplain), former or paleo channels, avulsions, cut-offs or anabranches (channels that dissect the floodplain and rejoin the main channel). The channel displays a typically unrestricted meandering style, with a relatively high sinuosity of about 1.8 to greater than 2.3. Meander wavelengths are approximately 200-700m.

The appreciable fining of bed sediment is a clear distinguishing feature between the transition zone and the lower zone. Bed sediments in the lower zone are typically composed of fine materials such as sand, silt and clay. The bank sediments are also composed of fine materials. As a result, stream banks are often steep in the lower zone and may be naturally susceptible to erosion. The bankfull channel has widths that range between about 30-100m and bankfull depths that range between 3 and 15 metres.



Figure 2.6 Typical examples of a lower zone.





Figure 2.6 (continued) Typical examples of a lower zone.

2.4.2.2 Step 2b. Construction of long profiles

Functional zone types are identified by drawing up long profiles of slope, valley width and planform channel pattern (Figure 2.7). A long profile is a plot of the character of interest against downstream river distance. **Long profiles are constructed for EACH river within EACH region**, using topographic maps.

2.4.2.3 Step 2c. Identification of zone types from long profiles

The completed long profiles for each river are examined simultaneously to identify the presence of one or more functional zone types (Figure 2.8), according to the characteristics described in Section 2.4.2.1. Supplementary information such as aerial photographs, satellite images, sediment data or local knowledge can also be used to confirm the interpretations of functional zone types from the long profiles. Once identified from the long profiles, the zone types that occur along each river are marked onto topographic maps.



There can be a high level of variability and complexity in the arrangement of functional zone types. The four zone types are **broadly** sequential along the river continuum, however, the same zone type may be identified more than once in the same

river (Figure 2.8). Additionally, it is common for rivers to contain only one or two functional zone types. It is recommended that the division of rivers into functional zone types should proceed according to the above instructions, but in consultation with a geomorphologist.

Long profile	Method	Example profile
SLOPE	Plot altitude against distance downstream. Altitude (m) and distance from source (km) can be measured off topographic	Attitude (m)
VALLEY CHARACTER	Plot valley width against distance downstream. Valley width is the distance (m) between the first topographic contours, on either side of the channel. Valley width should be measured off the lowest map scale possible.	(it is a local control in source (it in)
PLANFORM CHANNEL PATTERN	Determine the channel patterns that occur along the length of each river, according to the following categories: straight or mildly sinuous irregular pattern regular meanders MMM tortuous meanders	Distance from source (km) and channel planform

Figure 2.7 Construction of long profiles for slope, valley width and planform channel pattern. Assessments of each variable are made using topographic maps. Measurements should be taken at regular intervals along the river, according to size and variability. For example, in a 60km long river, measurements should be made every 5km but in a 250km long river, measurements should be made every 10km.



Figure 2.8 Interpretation of functional zone types from long profiles. For the zone types, UZA = Upper Zone A, UZB = Upper Zone B, TZ = transition zone and LZ = lower zone. More information on zone types is provided in Section 2.4.2.1.

2.5 EXAMINE THE DISTURBANCES OCCURRING IN AND AROUND EACH FUNCTIONAL ZONE (STEP 3)

2.5.1 Why?

Identification of areas that are potentially impacted by large scale and local scale activities allows the elimination of these areas as potential sources of reference sites.

2.5.2 How?

Disturbances that may potentially be impacting the river system are examined at a large catchment scale and at a local scale (see Sections 2.5.2.1 and 2.5.2.2). Sources for obtaining this information on potential disturbances include local managers, experience of agency staff, aerial photographs, hydrology records, GIS maps, and previous data collected for programs such as AUSRIVAS, individual State or Territory projects or the National Land and Water Audit.

2.5.2.1 Large scale activities

Large scale activities are those which have the potential to effect whole catchments within a river system (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1 Large scale activities to be considered when identifying least impaired areas within river systems.

Activity	Factors to consider
Landuse	Percent cover of native vegetation, percent cover of agricultural or grazing land, time since land clearance, degree of impact of land clearance on the downstream river system, percent cover of urban areas, degree of impact of urban areas on the downstream river system, presence of active (<5 years) logging areas, degree of catchment erosion, degree of sedimentation
Hydrological regime	Presence of major impoundments, downstream effects of major impoundments, degree of change to flooding regime including magnitude and timing, degree of change to flow seasonality, water extraction activities, reductions or increases in velocity, reductions or increases in discharge size It will be difficult to avoid regulated segments of river in some areas, particularly in lower zones. Where it is impossible to avoid regulation in identifying reference conditions, the overall magnitude of impoundment effects should be considered.
Current and	Degree of impact of current mining activities on the
historical mining	downstream river system, degree of impact of historical
activity	mining activities on river system character
2.5.2.2 Local scale activities

Local scale activities are those that may cause localised disturbance to rivers (Table 2.2).

Table 2.2 Local scale activities to be considered when identifying least impaired areas within river systems.

Activity	Factors to consider
Riparian zone	Presence or absence of riparian vegetation, type of riparian
characteristics	channel character
Channel	Channel realignment (straightening or widening etc.),
modification	infilling (ie. sediment build up) of channel, presence of
	bridges, fords and culverts and the effects of these on
	channel character, presence of minor weirs and the effects of these on channel character
Desnagging and	Historical or recent desnagging, removal of other instream
instream vegetation	vegetation such as macrophytes
	Or second that the foreness the scheme and the flare details. flare details
Floodplain condition	erosion, floodplain landuse
Human access	Density of public access tracks and roads, location of
	recreational areas such as camp grounds and picnic areas,
	presence of road crossings
Stock access	Extent of stock access to the channel, impact of stock access
	on bank condition, impact of stock access on bed condition
Bank condition	Extent of non-natural bank erosion, presence or absence of
	riparian vegetation
Point source impacts	Presence of discharge pipes, mining, stormwater discharges,
	construction sites etc.

This information on large and local scale activities will be used in Step 5 to determine areas of least impaired condition that are potential sources of reference sites. When using this information it is important to consider the different effects of large scale and local scale impacts. For example, significant forestry activities may occur across a wide area, however, a riparian buffer may exist to protect the stream on a local scale. Conversely, stock may have access to localised patches of river within an otherwise least impaired area and thus, reference sites should not be placed in these localised patches.

2.6 PLOT THE LOCATION OF AUSRIVAS BIOLOGICAL MONITORING SITES (STEP 4)

2.6.1 Why?

Sites assessed by AUSRIVAS as being in good biological condition can be used to indicate areas of river in least impaired condition. It can also be assumed that sites with a healthy biota will have a healthy supporting habitat.

2.6.2 How?

Plot the location of AUSRIVAS **reference** sites (ie. those sites used to construct the predictive models) and any Band A **test** site (ie. those sites assessed in the First National Assessment of River Health). Mark these sites onto topographic maps.

2.7 IDENTIFY THE LEAST IMPAIRED AREAS IN EACH REGION AND ZONE (STEP 5)

2.7.1 Why?

The identification of 'least impaired' areas within each region and zone will highlight river sections where reference sites can be placed.

2.7.2 How?

Least impaired areas are identified using the information collected in Steps 3 and 4. In each region and zone, mark onto topographic maps the sections of river that are least impaired. These areas are the sections of river where reference sites can be placed.

It is important to include least impaired areas from all the zone types present within a region. However, it is recognised that in comparison to the upper zones, the transitional and lower zone types will contain lower numbers of least impaired areas because it is usually these latter zone types that are most subject to impact. Thus, stringency of the criteria for determining least impaired areas may change among zone types. Relaxation of least impaired status in the transitional and lower zones should be done using supplementary information from previous biological, chemical or physical surveys, or using best professional judgement.

2.8 STRATIFY REFERENCE SITES EQUALLY ACROSS FUNCTIONAL ZONE TYPES (STEP 6)

2.8.1 Why?

Stratification of reference sites equally across regions and zones within regions will ensure coverage of a range of geomorphological river types. In turn, this coverage will improve the analytical robustness of the physical predictive models (see Section 2.1).

2.8.2 How?

The recommended total number of reference sites to be sampled in each State or Territory is given in Section 2.9. Regardless of the total number of reference sites used, sampling effort should be divided equally among regions and then among functional zones, according to the relative proportion of each zone type in each region. An example stratification of sampling effort across regions and zones is given in Table 2.3.

The final selection of reference sites is achieved by allocating the desired number of sites across zone types located within the least impaired areas identified in Step 5. Existing AUSRIVAS reference sites should be used where possible, however, additional sites may be required in particular zone types that are not adequately represented in the AUSRIVAS database. Reference sites should also be spread across a range of different rivers within the region.

2.9 NUMBER OF REFERENCE SITES AND FREQUENCY OF SAMPLING

The number of reference sites required to construct the physical predictive models is roughly the same as that used to construct the AUSRIVAS predictive models. The larger States (NSW, QLD, WA, VIC) should sample 230-250 reference sites (minimum 230) and the smaller States and Territories (ACT, SA, TAS, NT) should sample 180-200 reference sites (minimum 180). These figures represent the number of sites required to build the final predictive models. However, it may be necessary to sample additional reference sites to account for situations where sites are excluded post-hoc because of unexpected impairment.

As there are no strongly overriding temporal or seasonal aspects to the measurement of most physical and habitat features, **each reference site only needs to be sampled** **once.** Predictive models can be constructed after a single visit to each sampling site, and the subsequent collection of additional office based information (see Part 3).

Table 2.3 Example stratification of sampling sites across zones and regions, for a hypothetical State or Territory containing four regions and a total of 200 reference sites. For the zone types, UZA = upper zone A, UZB = upper zone B, TZ = transition zone and LZ = lower zone.

	Region	Number of	Zone	% zone	Number of
		sites in each	type	type in	sites in
		region		region	each zone
	1	50	UZA	20	10
			UZB	40	20
			ΤZ	30	15
tes			LZ	10	5
j Si	2	50	UZA	10	5
npling		UZB	10	5	
		ΤZ	70	35	
sar			LZ	10	5
ő	3	50	UZA	10	5
of 20		UZB	0	0	
		ΤZ	30	15	
tal			LZ	60	30
10	4	50	UZA	0	0
			UZB	70	35
			ΤZ	25	12
			LZ	5	3

2.10 COLLECTION OF TEST SITES TO VALIDATE PREDICTIVE MODELS

Once the predictive models are constructed using the reference site information, it will be necessary to 'validate' assessments of physical stream condition using information collected from a small set of test sites. A test site is defined as any site at which condition is assessed using the predictive models. The larger States (NSW, QLD, WA, VIC) should sample 20-30 test sites (minimum 20) and the smaller States and Territories (ACT, SA, TAS, NT) should sample 15-20 test sites (minimum 15). Test sites should initially be stratified across the different regions and zones. Within these areas, test sites should then be located to represent a range of disturbances that may potentially influence physical stream condition.



3 DATA COLLECTION

The sampling design for the physical assessment protocol consists of two aspects. First, reference sites are stratified across the landscape according to broad climatic regions and geomorphological zones (see Part 2). Then, physical, chemical and habitat information is collected locally from each reference site, and in future, each test site. Any site at which data are collected is called a sampling site, and will be referred to by this name throughout this document.

3.1 SAMPLING SITE DIMENSIONS

The length of a sampling site is a function of stream size (Table 3.1), and is defined as **10 times the channel bankfull width**. Upon arrival at each sampling site, bankfull width of the channel should be measured or estimated (see Part 5) and the length of the sampling site calculated. Use a tape measure to quantify the sampling site length, until distances can be estimated accurately by eye.

Table 3.1 Example calculation of sampling site length for streams of various bankfullwidths.

Bankfull width	Sampling site length
110m	1100m
100m	1000m
80m	800m
50m	500m
20m	400m
10m	100m
5m	50m
2.5m	25m

To facilitate ease of movement along the length of the sampling site, the protocol has been designed in a manner that minimises the transportation of heavy or cumbersome sampling equipment over long distances (see cross-section variables section in Part 5). More information about field sampling is provided in Section 3.4.1 and a list of recommended field sampling equipment is provided in Appendix 2.

3.2 OVERVIEW OF THE VARIABLES INCLUDED IN THE PHYSICAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL

Variables for inclusion in the protocol were selected using a three-step process. Firstly, a comprehensive list of the physical and chemical variables collected in the Index of Stream Condition (Ladson and White, 1999), the River Habitat Audit Procedure (Anderson, 1993a), the River Habitat Survey (Raven *et al.*, 1998), AUSRIVAS, River Styles (Brierley *et al.*, 1996) and Habitat Predictive Modelling (Davies *et al.*, 2000) was drawn up. The variables suggested at the Habitat Assessment Workshop (see Section 1.2.2) were also included. Then, each variable was examined in light of what it indicates about river condition, or how it relates to geomorphological process. Lastly, the list was trimmed of duplicated, highly variable, hard to measure and redundant variables, to form a final set for inclusion in the protocol.

Over 90 field and office based variables are included in the protocol (Table 3.2). The variables are divided into control and response types (see Section 3.3) and are grouped according to broad categories (Table 3.2). These broad categories represent the main physical components of river systems, and also incorporate factors that are important for ecological function. Site observations include factors that are collected in AUSRIVAS to indicate the general condition of a sampling site.

Additionally, there is a small amount of repetition in the choice of some variables. The repetition has been deliberately incorporated into the protocol and is analogous to the social survey practice of asking the same question in several differently worded versions. Repetition of some variables will ensure that a large set of high quality data, that covers all the important physical components, is available to construct the predictive models (see Section 3.4.1).

Table 3.2 Summary list of control and response variables included in the physical assessment protocol. Office or field collection indicates whether the variable is collected in the field, or collected in the office. A description of the method used to collect each variable is provided in Part 5.

CONTROL VARIABLES

Category	Variable	Office or
		field
		collection
Position of the site in	Latitude	Field
the catchment	Longitude	Field
	Altitude	Office
	Distance from source	Office
	Link magnitude	Office
Water chemistry	Alkalinity	Field
Catchment characteristics	Total stream length	Office
	Drainage density	Office
	Catchment area upstream of the site	Office
	Elongation ratio	Office
	Relief ratio	Office
	Form ratio	Office
	Mean catchment slope	Office
	Mean stream slope	Office
	Catchment geology	Office
	Rainfall	Office
Valley characteristics	Valley shape	Field
	Channel slope	Office
	Valley width	Office
Planform channel features	Sinuosity	Office
Landuse	Catchment landuse	Office
	Local landuse	Field
Hydrology	Index of mean annual flow	Office
	Index of flow duration curve difference	Office
	Index of flow duration variability	Office
	Index of seasonal differences	Office

Table 3.2 (cont.)

RESPONSE VARIABLES

Category	Variable	Office or
		field
		collection
Physical morphology and	Extent of bars	Field
bedform	Type of bars	Field
	Channel shape	Field
Cross-sectional dimension	Bankfull channel width	Both
	Bankfull channel depth	Both
	Baseflow stream width	Both
	Baseflow stream depth	Both
	Bank width	Both
	Bank height	Both
	Bankfull width to depth ratio	Both
	Bankfull cross-sectional area	Both
	Bankfull wetted perimeter	Both
	Baseflow cross-sectional area	Both
	Baseflow wetted perimeter	Both
Substrate	Bed compaction	Field
	Sediment angularity	Field
	Bed stability rating	Field
	Sediment matrix	Field
	Substrate composition	Field
Planform channel features	Planform channel pattern	Office
	Extent of bedform features	Field
Floodplain characteristics	Floodplain width	Field
	Floodplain features	Field
Bank characteristics	Bank shape	Field
	Bank slope	Field
	Bank material	Field
	Bedrock outcrops	Field
	Artificial bank protection measures	Field
	Factors affecting bank stability	Field
Instream vegetation and	Large woody debris	Field
organic matter	Macrophyte cover	Field
	Macrophyte species composition	Field
Physical condition indicators	USEPA epifaunal substrate / available	Field
and habitat assessment	cover habitat score (high and low	1
	gradient streams)	
	USEPA embeddedness habitat score	Field
	(nign gradient streams) or pool	1
	substrate characterisation habitat	1
	USEPA velocity / depth regime habitat	Field
	score (high gradient streams) or pool	1.010
	variability habitat score (low gradient	l
	streams)	

Table 3.2 (cont.)

Category	Variable	Office or field
		collection
	USEPA sediment deposition habitat	Field
	score (high and low gradient streams)	
	USEPA channel flow status habitat	Field
	score (high and low gradient streams)	
	USEPA channel alteration habitat	Field
	score (high and low gradient streams)	
	USEPA frequency of riffles (or bends)	Field
	habitat score (high gradient streams)	
	or channel sinuosity habitat score	
	(high and low gradient streams)	Field
	USEPA bank stability habitat score	Field
	(IIIgh and low gradient streams)	Field
	babitat score (high and low gradient	i leiu
	streams)	
	USEPA riparian vegetative zone width	Field
	habitat score (high and low gradient	
	streams)	
	USEPA total habitat score (high and	Field
	low gradient streams)	
	Channel modifications	Field
	Artificial features	Field
	Physical barriers to local fish passage	Field
Riparian vegetation	Shading of channel	Field
	Extent of trailing bank vegetation	Field
	Riparian zone composition	Field
	Native and exotic riparian vegetation	Field
	Regeneration of native woody	Field
	vegetation	
	Riparian zone width	Field
	Longitudinal extent of riparian vegetation	Field
	Overall vegetation disturbance rating	Field
Site observations	Local impacts on streams	Field
	Turbidity (visual assessment)	Field
	Water level at the time of sampling	Field
	Sediment oils	Field
	Water oils	Field
	Sediment odours	Field
	Water odours	Field
	Basic water chemistry and nutrients	Field
	Filamentous algae cover	Field
	Periphyton cover	Field
	Moss cover	Field
	Detritus cover	Field
		-

3.3 CONTROL AND RESPONSE VARIABLES

The variables included in the protocol are divided into control and response types and have very different functions in the construction of a predictive model.

Control variables – are large-scale environmental factors that control the expression of local-scale habitat features. **Control variables are used as predictor variables in a predictive model** and are analogous to the physical, chemical and habitat information collected in AUSRIVAS (see Section 1.3.2). Control variables are generally measured in the office (see Table 3.2 for exceptions). Also, control variables are usually large scale variables that are measured within the catchment area upstream of a site, or within a stream segment that is 1000 times the bankfull channel width. Exceptions are alkalinity, valley shape, local landuse, latitude and longitude, which are measured locally at the sampling site (Table 3.2).

Response variables – are local-scale environmental features. **Response variables are used to form groups with similar physical features** and are analogous to the macroinvertebrate information collected in AUSRIVAS (see Section 1.3.2). Response variables are all collected in the field and thus, are measured on a local scale. The exception is planform channel pattern, which should be verified using maps and aerial photographs.

3.4 FIELD DATA COLLECTION

3.4.1 General overview

Field data collection occurs in a similar manner as AUSRIVAS. Upon arrival at a sampling site, determine the bankfull channel width and calculate the length of the sampling site. Locate the sampling site so as to be 'representative' of the major bedform types present in the area. Then, follow the instructions given in Part 5 for the measurement of each variable. At larger sites, sampling may need to be conducted and recorded in sections, then combined. If this occurs, combination of data from different sections should be done while still at the sampling site, and overall observations of the site are still fresh in the memory!

Sampling should only be conducted under baseflow or low flow conditions. It is important not to sample under high flow conditions, because visibility of channel features will be reduced and the watermark will be obscured at cross-sections. In

addition, health and safety issues should be considered at all times, but are of particular concern under high flow conditions.

Variables measured in the field have been selected to maximise information about stream character, but are also designed to minimise the amount of sampling equipment required (see Appendix 2). This facilitates ease of movement along the entire length of the sampling site and it is vitally important that the whole length of the sampling site is included in the assessment. Many local variables are assessed over the area of the sampling site (see Part 5) and thus, it is important to observe the overall status of each of these variables within the entire sampling site. This will involve walking greater distances than is generally encountered with AUSRIVAS sampling.



3.4.2 Instructions for the measurement of field variables

Standardised and detailed instructions on the measurement and interpretation of each **field-based** variable are given in Part 5. It is important that sampling teams familiarise themselves with these methods prior to the commencement of field work (see

Appendix 1). This manual should also be available in the field for reference and cross checking if necessary.

The suggested sequence of work at a typical sampling site is given in Figure 3.1. This sequence of work can be adjusted to suit the needs of different sampling teams, although any sequence of work must ensure that all parts of the stream are observed and that all variables are measured. The sequence of work may also need to be adjusted for large rivers that require boat or canoe access.





3.4.3 Sampling times

The physical assessment protocol is a rapid, semi-quantitative assessment method (see Section 1.3.1.4). When functional predictive models are fully implemented, this method will provide an assessment of physical stream condition that can be 'turned out' approximately 3-5 days after test site sampling. This turn out rate can be achieved because the majority of data collection occurs in the field. Laboratory processing of samples is not required, and is limited to the collection of office based predictor variables.

Further, the rapid aspect of the method is also applicable to field data collection, where sampling times have been substantially reduced in comparison to traditional geomorphological survey techniques. The approximate time required at different types of sampling sites is given in Table 3.3. However, sampling times may vary considerably depending on factors such as experience of the sampling team, site access, flow and weather conditions, ease of movement along the river, depth of the river, substrate type and periphyton cover, location of cross-sections and number of cross-sections. Thus, these times should be used as a guide only.

Table 3.3Approximate sampling times for different types of sampling sites. Thesefigures are derived on the basis of field testing of the protocol, but should be used as aguide only.

Type of sampling site	Approximate sampling time
Small-medium sized wadeable stream with three cross-sections, none of which are in deep pools	1 hour
Small-medium sized wadeable stream with three cross-sections, one of which is in a deep pool	1 hour 20 minutes
Large wadeable river with three cross- sections, two of which are in deep pools, or which are difficult to access	2 hours 30 minutes
Large non-wadeable river with two cross- sections, which require access with a watercraft	3 – 4 hours

3.5 OFFICE DATA COLLECTION

3.5.1 Instructions for the measurement of office variables

Standardised and detailed instructions on the measurement and interpretation of each **office-based** variable are given in Part 5. Many of the office-based variables, such as landuse and catchment characteristics can be measured using a GIS, while others will need to be measured directly off topographic maps. While not as critical as the collection of local scale variables, it is important to make an effort to measure all of the large-scale variables (i.e. those generally collected in the office). These variables are used as predictor variables and as such, have been included to cover the range of hierarchical links that may exist between local-scale and large-scale factors.

It should also be noted that for each office-based variable measured within a catchment (see Part 5), the term catchment always refers to the catchment area upstream of a site. This definition of a catchment standardises on the premise that regardless of catchment size, it is the large scale physical and geomorphological processes that occur upstream of a site, rather than downstream of a site, that determine the local scale features that will be found there.



4 FIELD DATA SHEETS

4.1 OVERVIEW

Field data sheets for the protocol are modelled on the data sheets used in the River Habitat Audit Procedure (Anderson, 1993a; Anderson, 1999). Most variables are measured visually in the field and thus, drawings and descriptions have been included on the data sheets to aid interpretation. Some general points about the data sheets and about field data collection are as follows:

- Be sure to record the general site information on the first page of the data sheet.
- Be sure to record the site number and date on each page of the data sheet.
 This is important if individual pages become separated accidentally.
- Left and right banks are defined facing in a downstream direction.
- The USEPA habitat assessment data sheets are slightly different for high and low gradient streams. Ensure that the correct sheet is filled out at a high or a low gradient sampling site. Instructions on determination of high and low gradient sampling sites are included with the description of the USEPA habitat assessment variables in Part 5.
- Many of the categorical variables can be recorded using one category only, while others can be recorded as more than one category. Instructions for each variable are provided with the data sheets and on the instruction sheets for each variable (Part 5).
- For variables that require a percent composition assessment, record nonoccurring elements as zero. For example, if the substratum does not contain sand, record this component as 0% rather than as a blank space.
- Take several (minimum of three) photographs of each sampling site, from different aspects. Also photograph any unusual or difficult to interpret features of the site. Make a note of the photographs on the data sheet. These photographs will be useful during model construction and also for interpreting the relative condition of test sites.

4.2 THE FIELD DATA SHEETS

The field data sheets are provided in the following pages. The data sheets have been drawn in Microsoft Word and thus, are easy to manipulate if minor changes are required by individual States or Territories. The data sheets include all the response variables. Three cross-section sheets are provided although the number used will depend on the heterogeneity of the site (see Part 5). Likewise, the field data sheets contain the USEPA habitat assessments for both low gradient and high gradient streams, but only one is filled in at each site.

An example of a completed data sheet is also provided.

Data sheets for the collection of office variables have not been drawn up, because much of the office based data are likely to be obtained electronically.

AUSRIVAS Physical Ass	essment Protocol Field Da	Page 1	Site No Date)		
Date	Site No	Time		Recorder's Name		
River Name		Location				
Weather	Rain in last	week?Y[]N[]	Photograph number	ers and details		
Latitude:	sec deg Longitude:	min sec				
GPS Name and Datum						
PLANFORM SKETCH OF	- SITE	s and natural or artificial channel or fl	oodplain features	LENGTH OF SAMPLING	SITE	
Left bank is facing downstream.				Bankfull width		(m)
					x 10	(
						(m)
				Notes		
				BEFORE LEAVING THE SITE, CHECK DATA SHEETS TO ENSURE THAT ALL VARIABLES HAVE BEEN RECORDE	ED	Y

Acknowledgments - The content and layout of these data sheets are derived from the sheets used in the River Habitat Audit Procedure (Anderson, 1993a), AUSRIVAS, the Index of Stream Condition (Ladson and White, 1999 and DNRE Victoria) and the River Habitat Survey (Raven *et al.*, 1998).

Page 2 S	Site No	Date
----------	---------	------

BASIC WATER CHEMISTRY	Units	Valley shape Choose one category only	Local impacts on streams Choose one or more categories and describe the detail of each
Temperature	°C	Steep valley	Sand or gravel mining Sewage effluent
Conductivity			Other mining Channel straightening
Dissolved Oxygen	mg l⁻¹	Shallow valley	Road River improvement works
Dissolved Oxygen Sat.	%		Bridge / culvert / wharf Water extraction
рН		Broad valley	Ford / ramp Dredging
Turbidity			Discharge pipe Grazing
Total phosphorus 🔲 🖉 👷 💷		Gorge	Forestry activities
Total nitrogen			Sugar mill Recreation
≥ ALKALINITY		Symmetrical floodplain	Irrigation run-off or Other
Amount of water	ml		Description
Amount of H ₂ SO ₄	ml		
Alkalinity	mg l⁻¹		
]	Local landuse Choose one category for each bank
Floodplain width		Average (m)	Left Right
Floodplain features			Native forest
Choose one or more features when present			Native grassland (not grazed)
Sampling site has no distinct floodplain		oll systems	Grazing (native or non-native pasture)
Oxbows / billabongs	alor	ng the inner bank of a stream meander	Exotic grassland (lawns etc., no grazing)
meander, isolated by a shift in the stream	Spl	ays	Forestry Native [][] Pine [][]
channel	Sm	all alluvial fan formed where an rloaded stream breaks through a levee	Cropped Rainfed [] [] Irrigated [] []
Formed during a previous hydrological	and	I deposits material on the floodplain	Urban residential
regime. May be infilled with sediment		odplain scours	Commercial
A channel that distributes water onto the	clea	aring and digging action of flowing water	Industrial or intensive agricultural
floodplain and off the floodplain during		floodplain features present	Recreation
noous	⊢10 doe	es not contain any of the above features	Other

% Cover

26 – 50%

Longitudinal extent of riparian vegetation

Vegetation Description	Choose one category for each bank. Do not include ground layer except where site is in native grassland.	:	
	_ None		
	_ Isolated / scattered		
	_ Regularly spaced		
	Occasional clumps		
	Semi-continuous		
> 76%	Continuous		
riparian vegetation	Regeneration of native woody vegetation Is the sampling site in undisturbed forest?		

Extent of trailing bank vegetation

6 – 25%

Riparian zone composition Assess for whole sampling site

Trees (>10m in height) Trees (<10m in height)

Grasses / ferns / sedges

Shading of channel

< 5%

Shrubs

 nil
 moderate

slight
 extensive

 Native and exotic riparian vegetation

 % Native ______

 % Exotic ______

Y [] N [] If no, record regeneration category Abundant (>5% cover) and healthy Present Very limited (<1% cover)

Overall vegetation disturbance rating

Choose one category only. Sites with valley vegetation cleared on BOTH sides, but with riparian vegetation in good condition should be scored in the high disturbance category. Words within the drawings summarise the detailed text about the state of the riparian and valley vegetation for each category.

Extreme disturbance



Riparian vegetation – absent or severely reduced. Vegetation is extremely disturbed (ie. dominated by exotic species with native species rare or completely absent) Valley vegetation – agriculture and/or cleared land BOTH sides. Plants present are virtually all

exotic species (willows, pines etc.)

Very high disturbance



Riparian vegetation – some native vegetation present, but it is severely modified BOTH sides by grazing or the intrusion of exotic species. Native species severely reduced in number and cover.

Valley vegetation – agriculture and/or cleared land BOTH sides. Plants present are virtually all exotic species (willows, pines etc.)

High disturbance

May total more than 100%

51 - 75%



Riparian vegetation – moderately disturbed by stock or through the intrusion of exotic species, although some native species remain
 Valley vegetation – agriculture and/or cleared

Valley Vegetation – agriculture and/or cleared land ONE side, native vegetation on the other side clearly disturbed or with a high percentage of introduced species present

Moderate disturbance



Riparian vegetation – native vegetation on BOTH sides with canopy intact or with native species widespread and common in the riparian zone. The intrusion of exotic species is minor and of moderate

Valley vegetation – agriculture and/or cleared land on ONE side, native vegetation on the other in reasonably undisturbed state

Low disturbance



Riparian vegetation – native vegetation present on BOTH sides of the river and in relatively good condition with few exotic species present. Any disturbance present is relatively minor.

Valley vegetation – native vegetation present on BOTH sides of the river, with a virtually intact canopy and few exotic species

Very low disturbance



Riparian vegetation – native vegetation present on BOTH sides of the river and in an undisturbed state. Exotic species are absent or rare. Representative of natural vegetation in excellent condition

Valley vegetation – native vegetation present on BOTH sides of the river with an intact canopy. Exotic species are absent or rare. Representative of natural vegetation in excellent condition

Page 4 Site No. Date **AUSRIVAS Physical Assessment Protocol Field Data Sheets** Type of bars Extent of bars Physical barriers to local fish passage Choose one or more categories Choose one category for each flow condition % of streambed forming a bar of any type ____ % Base Low High Dominant sediment particle size on bars flow flow flow Bars absent Boulder/cobble [] Pebble [] Gravel [] No passage [] Silt/clay [] or _____ Sand mm Side/point bars VEGETATED Channel modifications Choose one or more categories Very restricted No Reinforced Side/point bars passage modifications UNVEGETATED Moderately Mid-channel bars Revegetated Desnagged restricted VEGETATED passage Mid-channel bars UNVEGETATED Partly restricted Dams and Infilled passage diversions Bars around obstructions Berms or Resectioned Good passage embankments Braided channel Unrestricted Recently Straightened Infilled channel Signs of work still passage channelised High flow deposits Type and height of barrier(s) Realigned Channelised Works old and in the past revegetated

Channel shape Choose one category only



AUSRIVAS Physical Assessment Protocol Field Data Sheets

Bank shape

Choose one category for each bank



Factors affecting bank stability Choose one or more categories

None	
Mining	vegetation
Runoff	draw-down
Stock access	Reservoir releases
Human access	Seepage
Ford, culvert	Flow and waves
Feral animals	Drainpipes
Other	
Description	

	Choose one	category for ea	ach ba	ank
			Left bank	Right bank
	$\sum_{i=1}^{n}$	Vertical 80 - 90°		
	\sum	Steep 60 - 80°		
	\sum	Moderate 30 - 60°		
		Low 10 - 30°		
		Flat <10°		
Bedro Assess	ck outcrops % of each ba	s ank covered by	bedro	ock outcrops
% bed	rock outcrop	os Left bank		
		Right Bar	ık	
Artific Choose	ial bank pro	otection mea	sure	S
			ancer	1 stock

Bank slope

None Fenced stock watering points Fence structures Vegetation Levee banks plantings Rock or wall layer Logs strapped to bank Rip rap Concrete channel Fenced human lining access Other

Site No Date
t oils nt light moderate profuse
l s flecks globs sheen slick
al/none sewage petroleum chemical erobic other
Jours al/none sewage petroleum chemical r
y (visual assessment) T Slight Turbid Opaque ↓ ↓ ↓ Is water clarity reduced by: Suspended material (e.g mud, clay, organics) Dissolved material (e.g plant leachates)
rel at the time of sampling No flow Low Baseflow or near baseflow Flood (don't sample)
ieatures at the sampling site or more categories Minor Ford Bridge Culvert Other

Page 6	Site No.	
	•••••	

Total should equal overall % cover of macrophytes

Extent of bedform features **Macrophyte cover** Assess % cover of the sampling site by each category. Total % composition for all features must equal 100% Overall % cover of macrophytes % cover of emergent macrophytes % of site Waterfall Heiaht >1m % cover of floating macrophytes Gradient >60° Est. Av. Length (m) Est. Av. Height (m) % cover of submerged macrophytes Est. Av. Gradient (°) % of site Cascade Step Height <1m Macrophyte composition Gradient 5-60° Est. Av. Length (m) Use a macrophyte field guide (i.e. Sainty and Jacobs, 1994) to aid identification. Strong currents Est. Av. Height (m) Listed macrophytes can be changed to reflect the common taxa present in each State or Territory. Est. Av. Gradient (°) N denotes a native taxa and I denotes an introduced taxa. Gradient 3-5° Rapid Emergent macrophytes % of site Submerged macrophytes % Strong currents % Est. Av. Length (m) Rocks break cover Present Present cover AND THE surface Est. Av. Depth (m) Brachiaria (Para Grass) I Ceratophyllum (Hornwort) N Est. Av. Width (m) Chara (Stonewart) N Crassula (Crassula) N Riffle % of site Gradient 1-3° Elodea (Canadian Pondweed) I Cyperus (Sedge) I/N Moderate currents Est. Av. Length (m) Surface unbroken Eleocharis (Spikerush) N Myriophyllum (Water Milfoil) I/N Est. Av. Depth (m) but unsmooth Est. Av. Width (m) Nitella (Stonewart) N Juncus (Rush) I/N Potamogeton (Pondweed) N Paspalum (Water Couch) N Glide Gradient 1-3° % of site Small currents Triglochin (Water Ribbon) N Est. Av. Length (m) Phragmites (Common Reed) N Surface unbroken Est. Av. Depth (m) and smooth Vallisneria (Ribbonweed) N Ranunculus (Buttercup) I Est. Av. Width (m) Other Scirpus (Clubrush) N Run Gradient 1-3° % of site Triglochin (Water Ribbon) N Other Small but distinct Est. Av. Length (m) & uniform current Typha (Cumbungi) N Other Est. Av. Depth (m) Surface unbroken Est. Av. Width (m) Other Floating macrophytes % Other _____ Present Pool Area where % of site stream widens or Other Azolla (Azolla) N Est. Av. Length (m) deepens and Est. Av. Depth (m) Callitriche (Starwart) I current declines Est. Av. Width (m) Other _____ Backwater Other _____ % of site A reasonable sized (>20% of channel Est. Av. Length (m) Other _____ width) cut-off Est. Av. Depth (m) section away from Overall % cover of native macrophyte taxa Est. Av. Width (m) Total should equal overall % cover of macrophytes from above Overall % cover of native macrophyte taxa

Note: An additional response variable <u>planform channel pattern</u> is measured in the office

Bed compact	t ion
Choose one car	tegory only
	Tightly packed, armoured

Array of sediment sizes, overlapping, tightly packed and very hard to dislodge
Packed, unarmoured Array of sediment sizes, overlapping, tightly packed but can be dislodged with moderate
Moderate compaction Array of sediment sizes, little overlapping, some packing but can be dislodged with moderate
Low compaction (1) Limited range of sediment sizes, little overlapping, some packing and structure but can be dislodged very easily
Low compaction (2) Loose array of fine sediments, no overlapping, no packing and structure and can be dislodged very easily

Sediment matrix Choose one category only

A.	Bedrock
	Open framework 0-5% fine sediment, high availability of interstitial spaces
	Matrix filled contact framework 5-32% fine sediment, moderate availability of interstitial spaces
	Framework dilated 32-60% fine sediment, low availability of interstitial spaces
ેં જે રે જે	Matrix dominated >60% fine sediment, interstitial spaces virtually absent

Sediment angularity

Choose one category only Assess cobble, pebble and gravel fractions only



In the USEPA Habitat Assessment on the following pages, be sure to use the correct form for high or low gradient streams



Bed stability rating Choose one category only

Unstable	e - eroding	Stable	Unstable	- depositing
Severe erosion	Moderate erosion	Bed stable	Moderate deposition	Severe deposition
Streambed scoured of fine	Little fine sediment present. Signs	A range of sediment sizes present in	Moderate build-up of fine sediments	Extensive build up of fine sediments
sediments. Signs of channel	of channel deepening. Eroded	the streambed. Channel is in a	at obstructions and bars.	to form a flat bed. Channel blocked,
deepening. Bare, severely eroded	banks. Streambed deep and	'relatively natural' state (not	Streambed flat and uniform.	but wide and shallow. Bars large
banks. Erosion heads. Steep	narrow. Steep streambed	deepened or infilled). Bed and bar	Channel wide and shallow.	and covering most of the bed or
streambed caused by erosion.	comprised of unconsolidated	sediments are roughly the same		banks. Streambed comprised of
	(loosely arranged and unpacked)	size. Banks stable. Streambed		unconsolidated (loosely arranged
	material	comprised of consolidated		and unpacked) material.
		(tightly arranged and packed)		
		material.		

HIGH GRADIENT STREAMS Circle a score for each parameter

Page 1 of 2

Habitat								С	ondi	tion	cate	gory	,									
parameter		Ex	celle	nt			(Good	I				Fair					Ро	or			
1. Epifaunal substrate / available cover	Grea subs epifa fish o subn bank stabl to all pote that not t	ater tha strate fa unal cover; nerged s, cob le habit ow full ntial (i. are not ransier	an 70% avoura olonisa mix of l logs, ble or tat and colon e. logs t new f nt).	6 of able fo ation a snage under other other d at sta isation s/snag fall and	r nd s, cut age s d	40-70% mix of stable habitat; well-suited for full colonisation potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonisation (may rate at high end of scale).						10% m tat; ha lability rable; uently oved.	ix of s abitat less t subst distui	stable than rate rbed c	r	Less than 20% stable habitat; lack of habitat is obvious; substrate unstable or lacking.						
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	
2. Embeddedness	Grav bould 25% sedir cobb of nig	rel, cot der par surrou ment. ole prov che sp	oble ar rticles unded Layeri <i>v</i> ides c ace.	nd are 0- by find ing of diversi	e ty	Grav boul 50% sedi	/el, co der pa surro ment.	bble a articles ounded	and s are 2 d by fi	25- ne	Grav boul 75% sedi	vel, co der pa surro ment.	bble a articles ounde	and s are { d by fi	50- ne	Gr bo mo su se	avel, o ulder ore tha rround dimer	cobbl partic an 75 ded b nt.	le and cles a 5% by find	d are e		
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	
3. Velocity / depth regime	All fo regin deep is <0 >0.5	our velo nes pro o, slow- o, fast-s 0.3m/s, m).	ocity/d esent -shallc shallov , deep	epth (slow- w, fas w). Sl is	t- ow	Only pres miss than regir	v 3 of t ent (if sing, s if mis nes).	the 4 r fast-s core l ssing c	regime shallov ower other	es vis	Only regir shal are i	/ 2 of t mes p low or missin	the 4 l resen slow- ig, sco	habita t (if fa shallo ore lov	t st- w v).	Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep).						
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	
4. Sediment deposition	Little islan less affec depc	or no ds or p than 5 ted by sition.	enlarg point b % of t sedin	lemen ars ar he bot hent	t of Id tom	Som bar f from sedii botto depo	e new format grave ment; om aff osition	/ incre ion, m el, san 5-30% ected; in po	ease in nostly nd or fi % of th ; sligh ols.	ine ne t	Mod new sedi new botto sedi obst cons mod	lerate grave ment bars; om aff ment ructio strictic lerate s prev	depos el, san on old 30-50 ected depos ns, ons an depos valent.	ition of d or fi and 0% of ; its at d ben sition i	of ne the ds; n	Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; more than 50% of the bottom changing frequently; pools almost absent due to substantial sediment deposition.					an Je	
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	
5. Channel flow status	Wate both minir chan expo	er reac lower nal am nel su sed.	hes banks banks nount d bstrate	ase of , and of e is		Wat avail <25° subs	er fills able c % of c strate	>75% hanne hanne is exp	6 of th el; or el osed.	e	Wat avai and/ are i	er fills lable c 'or riffl mostly	25-7 hanne e sub e supo	5% of el, strate sed.	the s	Ve cha pre po	ry littl annel esent ols.	e wat and i as st	ter in most andir	ly ng		
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	
6. Channel alteration	Char dred minir norm	nneliza ging al nal; st nal patt	tion or bsent ream tern.	or with	16	Som pres of br evide char dred 20 y but r char pres	e cha ent, u idge a ence c nneliza ging (r) may recent nneliza ent.	nneliz sually abutm of pasi ation, i greate y be p ation is	ation in are ents; t i.e. er thar resent s not	eas	Cha exte or sl pres and reac disru	nneliz nsive; horing ent or 40 to th cha upted.	ation r emba struc both 80% c nneliz	may b ankme tures bank of stre ed an	e ents s; eam d	Banks shored with gabion or cement; over 80% of the stream reach channelized and disrupted. Instream habitat greatly altered or removed entirely.						
JUDIL	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	

Circle a score for each parameter

HIGH GRADIENT STREAMS

Page 2 of 2

Habitat								С	onc	lition	cate	go	ry									
parameter		Exc	elle	ent			(Good					Fair					Po	or			
7. Frequency of riffles (or bends)	Occu relati of dis riffles the s (gen- of ha strea conti of bo large is im	urrence vely fre stance s divide tream erally 5 abitat is ams wh nuous oulders oulders o, natur portan	e of r eque betw ed by <7:1 to 7 to 7 key nere plac or o al ob	iffles nt; ra veen v width '); var . In riffles cemen ther ostruc	tio h of riety are nt tion	Occu infre betw by th strea 15.	ce of rif t; distar iffles di dth of th betwee	d to	Occa botto some betwe by the stread 25.	isior m ce e hal een e wi m is	nal riffle ontours bitat; dis bitat; dis riffles di dth of th betwee	or be provi tance videc le n 15	Generally all flat water or shallow riffles; poor habitat; distance between riffles divided by the width of the stream is a ratio of >25.									
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1 0		
8. Bank stability (score each bank)	Bank of er abse poter probl affec	ks stab osion c ent or n ntial foi lems. eted.	le; e or ba ninim futu <5%	viden nk fai ial; litt ire of ba	ce lure :le ank	Mod infre of er over reac eros	erate quent osion . 5-3 h has ion.	ly stable t, small n mostly 0% of b areas	e; area hea bank of	as Iled in	Mode 60% has a high e during	erate of b areas eros g flo	ely unsta ank in ro s of eros sion pote pods.	ble; (each sion; ential	30-	Uns area frec sec obv 60- eros	stable as; 'r juent tions ious 100% siona	e; ma aw' a alon and bank 6 of k al sca	any ei areas g stra benc slou bank irs.	roded aight Is; ghing; has		
SCORE	Left	bank		10	9	8		7		6	5		4		3	2	2		1 0			
SCORE	Righ	nt banl	<	10	9	8		7		6	5 4 3				3	2	2 1					
9. Vegetative protection (score each bank)	More strea and i zone vege trees shrul macu disru grazi minir almo to gr	e than s ambanl immed cover tation, s, unde bs, or pophyte iption t ing or mal or st all p ow nat	90% c sur iate r ad by inclu rstor non v es; vo hrou nov nov anov inot e lants urally	of the faces iparia / nativ iding ey woody egeta gh ng widen s allow /.	e ve / tive t; ved	70-9 streat cover veget of plat repro- evide full p to an more the p stub rema	0% o ambai red b tatior ants i esent blant g blant g blant g ble he aining	f the nk surfa by native h, but of is not w ed; disr ut not a growth pat exte h one ha tial plan eight J.	aces e ne cl ell- uptic ffectiont; nt; alf of t	lass on ing ntial	50-70 streat cover disrup patch close veget than poten heigh	0% (mba ed l ption nes (ly ci catio one- tial t rei	of the ank surfa by veget n obviou of bare s ropped n comm -half of t plant stu maining	aces ation s; soil or on; le he ubble	;	Les stre cov disr veg veg rem cen ave	s tha ered uptic etatio etatio time rage	an 50 bank s by v on of on is on ha d to 5 tres o stub	% of surfacegeta strea very as be or les ble h	the ces mbank high; en s in eight.		
SCORE	Left	bank		10	9	8		7		6	5		4		3	2	2	•	I	0		
SCORE	Righ	nt banl	〈	10	9	8		7		6	5		4		3	2	2			0		
10. Riparian zone score (score each bank)	Widt >18 activ lawn not ir zone	h of rip metres ities (i. s, crop mpacte	oariai ; hur e. ro s etc ed the	n zon man ads, c.) ha e ripa	e ve rian	Widt 12-1 activ the r minii	riparian tres; hu have im an zone	Width 12 m activi the ri deal.	n of etre ties paria	riparian s; huma have im an zone	zone n pacte a gre	e 6- ed eat	Width of riparian zone <6 metres; little or no riparian vegetation is present because of human activities.									
SCORE	Left	bank		10	9	8		7		6	5		4		3	2	2			0		
SCORE	Righ	nt ban	<	10	9	8		7		6	5		4		3	2	2			0		

TOTAL HIGH GRADIENT HABITAT SCORE

Circle a score for each parameter

LOW GRADIENT STREAMS

Page 1 of 2

Habitat		Condition category Excellent Good Fair Poor																				
parameter		Ex	celle	ent			(Good	ł				Fair					Po	or			
1. Epifaunal substrate / available cover	Grea subs epifa and snag unde or of and color (i.e. not r	ater th strate aunal of fish co gs, sul ercut b ther st at sta nisatio logs/s new fa sient)	an 50 favour colonis over; i bmerg panks able h ge to spage on pote nags ill and	% of rable f sation mix of ged log , cobb nabitat allow f ential that a not	for gs, ble full re	30-50% mix of stable habitat; well-suited for full colonisation potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonisation (may rate at high end of scale).						80% n tat; ha lability rable; uently oved.	nix of s abitat / less subst distu	stable than trate rbed c)r	Less than 10% stable habitat; lack of habitat is obvious; substrate unstable or lacking.						
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	
2. Pool substrate characterization	Mixt mate and root subr com	ure of erials, firm s mats merge mon.	subst with g and p and d veg	trate gravel revale etatior	ent; n	Mixt mud be d mate vege	ure of I or cla Iomina s and etation	soft s ay; mu ant; sc subm prese	and, ud may ome ro erged ent.	y iot	All n botto mat; vege	nud or om; lit no si etatior	r clay tle or ubmer 1.	or sar no roc rged	nd ot	Ha bec veç	rd-pa drock getati	an cla ;; no on.	iy or root r	nat d	or	
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	
3. Pool variability	Even mix of large- shallow, large-deep, small-shallow, small- deep pools present.									}- ₩.	Sha mor deep	llow p e prev o pool	ools n valent s.	nuch than		Majority of pools small- shallow or pools absent.						
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	
4.	Little	e or no	enlar	geme	ent	Som	ne nev	/ incre	ease ir	۱	Mod	lerate	depos	sition (of	He	avy c	lepos	its of	fine)	
Sediment deposition	of is and botto sedi	lands less ti om aff ment o	or poi han 20 ected depos	nt bar 0% of by ition.	s the	bar f from sedi botto depo	formain grave ment; com aff cosition	tion, m el, sar 20-50 ected in po	nostly nd or f)% of ; sligh ols.	ine the t	new sedi new botto sedi obst cons mod	grave ment bars; om aff ment ructio strictic lerate s prev	el, san on old 50-80 fected depos ns, ons an depos valent.	id or fi l and 0% of ; sits at id ben sition i	the ds; n	ma dev 80° cha poo to s dep	terial velop % of angin ols al subst positi	, incr ment the b g free most antia on.	ease ; mor otton quen abse I sed	d ba re tha tly; ent d imer	ur an ue nt	
Sediment deposition SCORE	of is and botto sedii	lands less ti om aff ment d	or poi han 20 ected depos	nt bar 0% of by ition.	the 16	bar f from sedi botto depo	formation or grave ment; om aff osition	tion, m el, san 20-50 ected in po	nostly nd or f)% of ; sligh ols. 12	ine the t	new sedi new botto sedi obst cons mod pool	grave ment bars; om aff ment ructio strictio lerate s prev 9	el, san on old 50-80 fected depos ns, ons an depos <i>v</i> alent. 8	id or fi l and 0% of ; sits at id ben sition i	the ds; n	ma dev 80° cha poo to s dep 5	terial velop % of angin ols al subst cositi	, incr ment the b g fre- most antia on.	ease ; mor otton quent abse I sed	d ba re tha tly; ent d imer	ue nt 0	
Sediment deposition SCORE 5. Channel flow status	of is and botto sedii 20 Wat both minii char expo	lands less til ment o ment o er rea lower mal ar nnel su osed.	or poi han 20 ected depos tectes tectes tank nount ubstra	nt bar 0% of by ition. 17 base of s, and of tte is	the 16	bar t from sedi botto depo 15 Wat avail <250 subs	formating grave ment; om aff osition 14 er fills lable of % of costrate	tion, m el, sar 20-50 ected in po 13 >75% channe is exp	12 6 of the el; or el osed.	ine the t	new sedi new botto sedi obst cons mod pool 10 Wat avai and/ are i	grave ment bars; om aff ment rructio strictic lerate s prev 9 er fills lable o 'or riff mostly	el, san on old 50-80 fected depos ns, ons an depos valent. 8 s 25-7 chann le sub y expo	id or fi l and 0% of ; sits at id ben sition i 7 5% of el, strate osed.	the ds; n 6 the s	ma dev 80° cha poo to s dep 5 Ve cha pre poo	terial velop % of angin bls al subsi cositi usubsi cositi usubsi s	, incr ment the b g fre- most cantia on. 3 le wa and as si	ease ; mor otton quen' abse I sed I sed ter in most tandii	d ba re tha tly; ent d imer 1	ue nt 0	
Sediment deposition SCORE 5. Channel flow status SCORE	of is and botto sedii 20 Wat both minii char expo 20	lands less ti om aff ment of 19 er rea lower mal ar nnel si osed. 19	or poi han 20 ected depos 18 ches bank mount ubstra 18	nt bar D% of by ition. 17 base of s, and of tte is 17	the 16	bar t from sedi botto depo 15 Wat avail <25° subs 15	formation grave ment; om aff osition 14 er fills lable of % of of strate	tion, m el, sar 20-50 ected: in po 13 >75% channe is exp 13	12 6 of the 12 6 of the 12 6 of the 12 12	ine the t 11 e	new sedi new botto sedi obst cons mod pool 10 Wat avai and/ are n	grave ment bars; om aff ment ructio strictic lerate s prev 9 er fills lable o for riff mostly	el, san on old 50-8(fected depos ns, ons an depos valent. 8 225-7 channele sub y expo	d or fill and 0% of sits at ad ben sition i 7 5% of el, strate osed. 7	ne the ds; n 6 the s 6	ma dev 80° cha poo to s dep 5 Ve cha pre poo 5	terial velop % of angin bls al subsi oositi 4 ry litt annel esent bls.	, incr ment the b g fre- most antia on. 3 le wa and as s ⁻	ease ; mor otton quen' abse I sed 2 ter in most tandir	d ba re than tly; ent d imer 1 ly ng 1	r an ue nt 0	
Sediment deposition SCORE 5. Channel flow status SCORE 6. Channel alteration	of is and botto sedii 20 Wat both minii char expo 20 Chai dred minii norm	lands less ti om aff ment o 19 er rea lower mal ar nnel su osed. 19 nneliz: lging a mal; s nal pa	or poi han 20 ected depos 18 ches bank nount ubstra 18 ation of absent tream ttern.	nt bar 2% of by ition. 17 base of s, and of te is 17 or t or with	the 16	bar f from sedi botto depo 15 Wat avail <250 subs f Som press of bi evid char drec 20 y but i char press	formar a gravu ment; som aff position 14 er fills lable c % of c strate 14 ence cha ence cha leging (gr) may recent nueliza	tion, n el, sar 20-50 ected in po 13 >75% hanne is exp 13 nneliz sually abutm of pas ation, is greate y be p	nostly nd or f % of s sligh ols. 12 6 of th el; or el oosed. 12 ation r are ents; t i.e. er thau resen s not	ine the t 11 e 11 e as	new sedi new botto sedi obst cons mod pool 10 Wat avai and/ are i 10 Cha exte or sl pres and reac disru	grave ment t bars; om aff ment t ructio strictic erate s prev 9 er fills lable of or riff mostly 9 nneliz nsive; horing ent of 40 to h cha upted.	ected deposions, nns an deposions, nns an deposions, altent. 8 3 25-7. chann le sub y expo 8 ation i emba struct n both 80% (nnneliz	ad or fi and 0% of sits at d ben sition i 5% of el, sstrate sed. 7 may b ankme tures bank of stre ed an	the ds; n 6 the s 6 eeents s; eam d	ma dev 80° cha poo to s dep 5 Ve cha poo 5 Ba gat 80° cha dis hat ren	terial velop % of angin bls al subsi positi 4 ry litt annel sent bls. 4 nks s bion (% of annel rupte bitat (, incr ment the b g fre- most antia on. 3 e wa and as s ⁻ and as s ⁻ shore br cel the s ized of the s ized of the s	ease ; mor otton quent abse I sed I	d ba re than tly; ent d imer 1 ly ng 1 n s ove n rea	r an ue the second seco	

Continued over

Circle a score for each parameter

LOW GRADIENT STREAMS

Page 2 of 2

Habitat								Со	nditio	on ca	tego	ory							
parameter		Exc	elle	nt			Goo	d				Fair					Po	or	
7. Channel sinuosity	The incre lengt longe straig chan cons coas low-l para rateo	bends pase the h 3 to er than ght line nel bra idered tal plai ying ar meter i t in the	in the e stre 4 time if it w aiding norm ns an eas. s not se are	e stre eam les las ir la in la oth This easil eas).	am n a her ly	The ber increase length 2 longer t straight	nds in tl e the st 2 to 3 tir han if it line.	tream n s in a	Th ind 2 t wa	e ben crease imes as in a	ids in the e the stre longer th a straigh	e stre eam ' an if ine.	am I to it	Channel straight; waterway has been channelized for a long distance.					
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15 14	4 13	1	2 11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1 0
8. Bank stability (score each bank)	Bank of er abse poter probl affec	ks stab osion c ent or m ntial foi lems. eted.	ile; evi or ban ninima r futur <5% (ideno Ik fail al; litt re of ba	ce lure le ink	Modera infreque of erosid over. 5 reach h erosion.	tely sta ent, sma on mos -30% o as area	ble; all a tly h f ba s of	reas lealed nk in	Me 60 ha hiq du	oderat % of s area gh ero ring fl	tely unst bank in as of erc sion pot loods.	able; each sion; ential	30-	Unsta areas frequ section obvior 60-10 erosi	able s; 'ra ons us l 00% onal	; mar aw' ar along and l bank b of ba l scar	ny er reas g stra bend slou ank s.	roded aight ls; ghing; has
SCORE	Left	bank	1	0	9	8	7		6		5	4	4 3		2		1		0
SCORE	Righ	nt banl	k 1	0	9	8	7	6			5	4		3	2	2 1			0
9. Vegetative protection (score each bank)	More streat and i zone vege trees shrul maci disru grazi minir almo to gr	e than s ambank immed covere- tation, s, unde bs, or n rophyte iption t ing or n mal or n st all p ow nat	90% c surfa iate rij ed by incluce store non w es; ve hroug mowin not ev lants urally.	of the aces paria nativ ding y voody getat y getat ng viden allow	n ve tive t; ved	70-90% streamb covered vegetati of plants represe evident full plan to any g more th the pote stubble remainin	o of the bank su l by nat on, but s is not nted; d but not t growt rreat ex an one ential pl height ng.	irfac ive wel isrup affe h po tent half ant	ees class l- ption ecting otential ; of	50 sti co dis pa cla ve tha pc he	-70% reamb vered sruptio tches osely o getati an one tentia ight re	of the bank sur by vege on obvioi of bare cropped on comr e-half of I plant si emaining	aces tatior us; soil c non; l the ubble	n; or ess	Less strea cover disru vege remo centir avera	thai mba red l ption atio atio ved metri age	n 50% ank s by ve n of s on is v on has to 5 res of stubb	% of urface egeta strea /ery s bee r les ble h	the ces mbank high; en s in eight.
SCORE	Left	bank	1	0	9	8	7		6		5	4		3	2		1		0
SCORE	Righ	nt banl	k 1	0	9	8	7		6		5	4		3	2		1		0
10. Riparian zone score (score each bank)	Widt >18 activ lawn not ir zone	h of rip metres ities (i. s, crop mpacte	barian ; hum e. roa os etc. ed the	zone nan ads, .) ha ripa	e ve rian	Width of riparian zone 12-18 metres; human activities have impacted the riparian zone only minimally.					idth o metr tivities e ripai al.	f ripariar es; hum s have ir rian zone	e 6- ed eat	Width of riparian zone <6 metres; little or no riparian vegetation is present because of human activities.					
SCORE	Left	bank	1	0	9	8	7		6		5	4		3	2		1		0
SCORE	Riah	nt banl	k 1	0	9	8	7	T	6		5	4		3	2	Τ	1		0

TOTAL LOW GRADIENT HABITAT SCORE



Channel cross-sections and variables to be measured in the area around a cross section

Detailed instructions on the measurement of channel cross-sections are provided in the protocol manual. Be familiar with these before proceeding.

Two cross-sections are required at homogeneous sampling sites (generally lowland streams) and three cross-sections at heterogeneous sampling sites (generally upland streams). Where the water level at the time of sampling is at or near the water mark level, stream width at the water surface will be equal to stream width at the water mark. In this case, vertical distance between the water surface and the water mark should be entered as 0.

	Cross-section sketch		Cros	s-section number	of
			Type of Riffle	bedform at the cross-section Run Pool Cascade Other	er
Bank height (m)	The channel sketch should show in cross the water surface, watermark and bankfu outcrops and snags encountered at the c	-section the shape of the channel and include the location of I points. Also show other features such as bars, rocky oss section.	Strea Stream	Bankfull channel width (m) (=total of boxes A+B+C) am width at the water mark (m) width at the water surface (m)	Bank height (m)
Bank width (m) B Vertical distance between the water					Vertical distance between the water
surface and the water mark (m) Riparian zone width	Vertical water	Notes on cross-section measure	ement		surface and the water mark (m)
Left bank (m) F	Right bank (m)				
Bank material Assess	% composition for each bank Left bank Right bank	Substrate composition Assess % composition in the area of bed 5m eith the cross-section.	er side of	Assess Filamentous algae cover	in the area 5m either side of the cross section
Bedrock		Bedrock)	Borinbuton covor	
Boulder (>256mm)	<u> </u>	Boulder (>256mm)			
Cobble (64-256mm)		Cobble (64-256mm)	%	<10%10–35%35-65% [J65-90% <u></u> >90%
Pebble (16-64mm)		Pebble (16-64mm)	<u></u>	Moss cover	
Gravel (2-16mm)		Gravel (2-16mm)		□<10% □10–35% □35-65%	65-90%
	、	Sand (0.06-2mm)			
FINES (silt and clay, <0.06mm	" <u> </u>	Fines (silt and clay <0.06mm)	J	Detritus cover	
	Total 100% each			└──<10% └──10─35% └──35-65%	65-90%

Channel cross-sections and variables to be measured in the area around a cross section

Detailed instructions on the measurement of channel cross-sections are provided in the protocol manual. Be familiar with these before proceeding.

Two cross-sections are required at homogeneous sampling sites (generally lowland streams) and three cross-sections at heterogeneous sampling sites (generally upland streams). Where the water level at the time of sampling is at or near the water mark level, stream width at the water surface will be equal to stream width at the water mark. In this case, vertical distance between the

water surface and the water mark should be entered as 0.

	Cross-section sketch		Cros	ss-section number	of
			Type o	f bedform at the cross-section	er
Bank height (m)	The channel sketch should show in cross the water surface, watermark and bankfu outcrops and snags encountered at the c	-section the shape of the channel and include the location of Il points. Also show other features such as bars, rocky ross section.	Stre Stream	Bankfull channel width (m) (=total of boxes A+B+C) am width at the water mark (m)	Bank height (m
Bank width (m)	Horizontal dis	tances (m)			Bank c width (m)
Vertical distance between the water surface and the water mark (m)	Vertical wate	depths (cm)			Vertical distance between the water surface and the water mark (m)
Rinarian zone width		Notes on cross-section measur	ement		
Left bank (m) F	Right bank (m)				
Bank material Assess	% composition for each bank Left bank Right bank	Substrate composition Assess % composition in the area of bed 5m eith the cross-section.	her side of	Assess Filamentous algae cover	s in the area 5m either side of the cross section 65-90% >90%
Bedrock		Bedrock)	Perinbyton cover	
Boulder (>256mm)		Boulder (>256mm)			
		Cobble (64-256mm)	%		00-90%>90%
		Pebble (16-64mm)	a⊓ 19 2 19	Moss cover	
		Gravel (2-16mm)		<10% □10-35% □35-65%	65-90% >90%
Sand (0.06-2mm)		Sand (0.06-2mm)			
FILLES (SILL and Clay, <0.06mm	"	Fines (silt and clay <0.06mm)	J		
	Total 100% each			<10% 10–35% 35-65%	65-90%

Channel cross-sections and variables to be measured in the area around a cross section

Detailed instructions on the measurement of channel cross-sections are provided in the protocol manual. Be familiar with these before proceeding.

Two cross-sections are required at homogeneous sampling sites (generally lowland streams) and three cross-sections at heterogeneous sampling sites (generally upland streams). Where the water level at the time of sampling is at or near the water mark level, stream width at the water surface will be equal to stream width at the water mark. In this case, vertical distance between the

vv nere the water level at the time of sampling is at or near the water mark level, stream width at the water surface will be equal to stream width at the water mark. In this case, vertical distance between the water surface and the water mark should be entered as 0.

	Cross-section sketch		Cros	s-section number	of
			Type of Riffle	bedform at the cross-section e Run Pool Cascade Other	ner
Bank height (m)	The channel sketch should show in cross the water surface, watermark and bankfu outcrops and snags encountered at the c	s-section the shape of the channel and include the location of Il points. Also show other features such as bars, rocky ross section.	Strea Stream	Bankfull channel width (m) (=total of boxes A+B+C) Im width at the water mark (m) width at the water surface (m)	Bank height (m
Bank width (m)	Horizontal dis	tances (m)			Vertical distance
surface and the water mark (m)	Vertical wate	Notes on cross-section measur	rement		surface and the water mark (m)
Left bank (m) R	ight bank (m)				
Bank material Assess	% composition for each bank Left bank Right bank	Substrate composition Assess % composition in the area of bed 5m ei the cross-section.	ther side of	Asses Filamentous algae cover <10%	is in the area 5m either side of the cross section
Bedrock		Bedrock)	Berinhyton cover	
Boulder (>256mm)		Boulder (>256mm)			
Cobble (64-256mm)		Cobble (64-256mm)	%		65-90% >90%
Pebble (16-64mm)		Pebble (16-64mm)		Moss cover	
Gravel (2-16mm)		Gravel (2-16mm)		☐<10% ☐10–35% ☐35-65%	65-90% >90%
Sand (0.06-2mm)		Sand (0.06-2mm)			
FINES (silt and clay, <0.06mm)		Fines (silt and clay <0.06mm)	J	Detritus cover	
	Total 100% each			<10% 10–35% 35-65%	65-90% >90%













Note: An additional response variable plantom channel pattern is measured in the office


AUSRIVAS Physical and Chemical Assessment Protocol Field Data Sheets Page 8 Site No. 003 Date 31/1/01

USEPA Habitat Assessment

HIGH GRADIENT STREAMS

Page 1 of 2

Circle a score for each parameter

Habitat						Condition category															
parameter		E)	xcelle	nt				Good					Fair					Po	or		
1. Epifaunal substrate / available cover	Gree subs epile fish - subr bank stab to al pote that not t	40-70% mix of stable habitat; well-suited for full colonisation potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonisation (may rate at high end of scale).					20-4 habi avai desi freq rem	Less than 20% stable habitat; lack of habitat is obvious; substrate unstable or lacking.													
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	٩	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
2. Embeddedness	Gravel, cobble and boulder particles are 0- 25% surrounded by fine sedimont. Layering of cobble provides diversity of plobe space					Gravel, cobble and boulder particles are 25- 50% surrounded by fine sediment.					Grav boul 75% sedi	Gravel, cobble and boulder particles are more than 75% surrounded by fine sediment.									
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
3. Velocity / depth regime	All four velocity/depth regimes present (slow- deep, slow-shallow, fast- deep, fast-shallow). Slow is <0.3m/s, deep is >0.5m).					Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score lower than if missing other regimes).					Only regin shal are	Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep).									
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	(13)	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
4. Sediment deposition	Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition.					bar formation, mostly from gravel, send or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.					Mod new sedi new both sedi obst	grave grave bars; om aff ment ructio	depo al, sar on olio ; 30-5 fected depo	sition and or t and 0% of t; sits et	of fine the	Hea mat dev 50% cha poo	svy i leria eloş 6 of ngir ils a	depo il, inc men the t ng fre	sits o rease t; mo sottor squer	of fine ad ba re th n thy; ent d	e er van
											mod pool	strictic lerate s pre-	ons ar depo valen/	nd ber sition	nds; in	dep	ubs losit	tantia ion.	al sec	limer	nt
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	oons mod pool	strictic lerate s pre- 9	ons ar depo valent 8	nd ber sition 7	nds; in 6	10 s dep	ubs osit 4	tanticion.	2	fimer	nt o
SCORE 5. Channel flow status	20 Wate both mini char expo	19 For real lower mai ar mai ar mai su	18 ches b nount ubstral	17 ase o s, and of te is	16	15 Wat avai <25 sub	14 ar fills lable % of c strate	13 >75% chann is eq	12 Ke of the hel; or el	11 19	oons mod pool 10 Wat avai and are	strictic lerate s pre- 9 er fills lable for riff mostly	8 25-7 chanrile sub y expo	7 5% of vel, ostrato	nds; in 6 the os	5 Ver cha pres	4 y litt sent is.	3 le wa as s	2 ater it mos tand	fimer 1 tiy ing	0
SCORE 5. Channel flow status SCORE	20 Wate both mini char expo 20	19 er real lower mal ar nnel su xsed. 19	18 ches b mount ubstrai 18	17 ase of of te is	16	15 Wat avai <25 subt	14 er fills lable % of e strate 14	13 >75° chann is exp 13	12 Se of the rel; or el cosed	11 19	oons mod pool 10 Wat avai and are 10	strictic lerate s pre- 9 er fills lable for riff most) 9	ans ar depo valent 8 25-7 chanr le sub y exp 8	7 5% of vel, ostrato xed. 7	nds; in 6 the s	5 Ver cha pros	4 y litt sent ils.	tanti ion. 3 tle ws 1 and 1 as s	2 ater i mos tand	fimer 1 tiy ing	0
SCORE 5. Channel flow status SCORE 6. Channel alteration	20 Wat both mini char expo 20 Cha dred mini nom	19 er real lower mal ar sed. 19 nnelizi lging a mal; s nal pal	18 ches b banko mount ubstrai 18 ation o absent tream them.	17 tase of of te is of or with	16	15 Wat avail <25 subs 15 Som prec of b char char char pres	14 er fills % of of strate sent, t ridge nneliz iging r) ma recen nneliz sent.	13 >75% chann is exp 13 annelii suall abutn of pas ation, (great y be p t ation	12 x of the ret; or ocsed 12 zation y in ar nents; st i.e. ter that oreser is not	11 eeas	oone mod pool 10 Wat avai and are 10 Cha exte or si pres and reac dism	strictic lerate s pre- 9 er fills lable for riff mostly 9 nneliz nsive horing 40 to th cha upted	ans ar depo valent 8 25-7 chant le sub y cope 8 station s tout 8 00%	7 5% of the strate strate strate tures to bani of strate tures of strate	6 the ents cs; cam d	10 s dep 5 Ven cha pree poo 5 Ban gab 80% cha diar hab rem	4 y litt sent is. 4 ks of nee uply itat	3 lie ws 4 and t as s 3 shore the s lized sd. li great d ent	2 ater it i mos itandi 2 id with itreau and nstreau and itreau	1 fly ing 1 fh t; over arm terred	0 otar sch

AUSRIVAS Physical and Chemical Assessment Protocol Field Data Sheets Page 9 Site No. 003 Date 311201

USEPA Habitat Assessment Circle a score for each parameter

HIGH GRADIENT STREAMS

Page 2 of 2

Habitat								(Con	dition	cate	gor	у							_
parameter		Ex	cell	ent				Good	1				Fair	-			Po	oor		_
7. Frequency of riffles (or bends)	Occ relat of d riffle the : (gen of h streat cont of b larg is im	atio atio ariety s are ent action	Occurrence of riffles infrequent; distance between riffles divided by the width of the stream is between 7 to 15.					Occo botto som betw by th stree 25.	asion e hat een n e wid am is	al riffle mours sitat; di riffles o sth of t betwe	or b prov stand fivide he en 1:	Generally all flat water o shallow riffles; poor habitat; distance between riffles divided by the width of the stream is a ratio of >25.								
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	1	10	9	8	7	6	5 4	3	2	1	0
8. Bank stability (score each bank)	Ban of er abso pote prob affec	nce alture ittle xank	Moderately stable; infrequent, small areas of erosion mostly healed over. 5-30% of bank in reach has areas of erosion,					Mod 60% has high durir	erate of be areas erosi ng fio	ly unst ank in i s of ero ion pol ods.	able; reach sion entia	30-	Unstable; many eroded areas; 'raw' areas frequent along straight sections and bends; obvious bank sloughing; 60-100% of bank has erosional acers.							
SCORE	Left bank 10 9					(8	51	7	Т	6	5		4	Г	3	2	T	1	0	
SCORE	Right bank 10 9					8	51	7	t	6	5		4	t	3	2		1	0	
9. Vegetative protection (score each bank)	More strev and zons vege tree shru mac dism graz mini almo to gr	e than ambau imme a cove atation s, und dbs, or rophy uption ing or mal o ost all row na	90% tk su diate red t n, incl ersto non tes; v throu plant atural	of the riper by na- luding wood wood wood wood wood wood wood woo	te s tian tive g ty ative ative out; owed	70-9 stre- cover vege of pi repr evid full (to a mon the (stub rem	0% c amba ered t statio lants esen lent b plant ny gn e tha poten ble h aining	of the ink sur by nati n, but is not ted; dit ut not growth eat ext n one i tial pla eight g.	face ve one well- srup affe i pot i pot i pot i ant	is class tion cting ential of	50-7 stree cove disru pato close vega than pote heig	0% o amba red b ption hes o aly cr station one- ntial p ht ren	f the nk surf y vege obvio f bare opped n com half of plant s naining	aces static us; soil o non; the tubbi 3.	in; or less e	Less than 50% of the streambank surfaces covered by vegetation; disruption of streambank vegetation is very high; vegetation has been removed to 5 centimetres or less in average stubble height.				
SCORE	Left	bank		10	9	8		7		6	5		4		3	2		1	0	
SCORE	Rigt	ht ban	ik	10	٢	8		7		6	5		4		3	2		1	0	
10. Riparian zone score (score each bank)	Wid >18 activ lawn not i zone	th of ri metre vities (is, oro impaci a.	iparia s; hu i.e. n ps et ted 8	an zoi iman oads, to.) hi he rip	ne ave arian	Wid 12-1 activ the i mini	Width of riparian zone 12-18 metres; human activities have impacted the riparian zone only minimally.				Widt 12 m activ the r deal	h of r netres ities l iparis	ipariar s; hum have ir an zone	n zon an mpac 9 a g	Width of riparian zone <6 metres; little or no riparian vegetation is present because of human activities.					
SCORE	Left	bank		10	9	6	\geq	7		6	5		4		3	2		1	0	
SCORE	Righ	nt ban	k	10	9	G	Л	7		6	5		4		3	2		1	0	_

TOTAL HIGH GRADIENT HABITAT SCORE



AUSRIVAS Physical and Chemical Assessment Protocol Field Data Sheets Page 10 Site No. _____ Date _____

USEPA Habitat Assessment Circle a score for each parameter

LOW GRADIENT STREAMS

Page 1 of 2

Habitat	Condit										cate	egor	y		Deer						
parameter	Excellent							Good	ł				Fair					Po	or		
1. Epifaunal substrate / available cover	Greater than 50% of substrate favourable for epifaunal colonisation and fish cover; mix of snags, submerged logs, undercut banks, cobble or other stable habitat and at stage to allow full colonisation potential (i.e. logs/snags that are not new fall and not transient)					30-50% mix of stable habitat; well-suited for full colonisation potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonisation (may rate at high end of scale).				10-30% mix of stable habitat; habitat availability less than desirable; substrate frequently disturbed or removed.						Less than 10% stable habitat; lack of habitat is obvious; substrate unstable or lacking.					
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	1,8	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
2. Pool substrate characterization	Mixture of substrate materials, with gravel and firm sand prevalent; root mats and submerged vegetation					Mixture of soft sand, mud or clay; mud may be dominant; some root mats and submerger vegetation present					All mud or clay or sand bottom; little or no root mat; no submerged vegetation.						Hard-pan clay or bedrock; no root mat or vegetation.				
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	h	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
3. Pool variability	Even mix of large- shallow, large-deep, small-shallow, small- deep pools present					Majority of bools large- deep; very few shallow					Shallow pools much more prevalent than deep pools.						Majority of pools small- shallow or pools absent.				
SCORE	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
4.	Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 20% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition					Son	ne nev	v incr	ease	in	Moo	lerate	deno	sition	of	Ho	21/1/	dono	eite c	f fin	0
Sediment deposition	of is and bott sedi	lands less t om af iment	or po han 2 fected depos	int ba 0% of 1 by sition.	irs f the	bar from sedi bott dep	forma n grav iment om af ositio	tion, r el, sa ; 20-5 fecteo n in po	mostly nd or 0% of d; slig pols	fine the	new sedi new bott sedi obsi coni mod	grave ment bars om af iment tructic strictic derate	on old 50-8 fected depoint ons, ons ar depoint valent	nd or i d and 0% of i; sits at nd ber sition	the the nds; in	dev 80° cha poo to s dej	velop velop % of angir ols a subs posit	the	rease t; mo oottor equer t abs al see	ed ba re th n tly; ent d lime	ar nan due nt
Sediment deposition SCORE	of is and bott sed	lands less t om af iment	or po han 2 fected depos	int ba 0% of 1 by sition,	f the	bar from sedi bott dep	forma n grav iment om af osition	tion, r el, sa 20-5 fected n in po	nostly nd or 0% of d; slig pols	fine the	new sedi new bott sedi obsi con moc poo	gravi iment bars om af iment tructic strictic lerate ls pre	50-8 50-8 fected deposions, ons ar depo valent	nd or i d and 0% of i; sits at nd ber sition	the the nds; in	dev 80° cha poo to : dep	teria velop % of angir ols a subs posit	the the tantiation.	rease t; mo oottor equer t abs al sec	ed ba re th n itly; ent d lime	ar nan due nt
Sediment deposition SCORE 5. Channel flow status	of is and bott sed 20 Wat both mini chal expo	lands less t om af iment ter rea a lowe imal a nnel s osed.	or po han 2 fected depos 18 	17 base t of ate is	f the	bar from sedi bott dep 15 15 Wat avai <25 subs	forman n grav iment: om af osition 14 er ills table % of o strate	tion, r el, sa ; 20-5 fected n in po 13 s >75 chann chann is exp	12 % of the set of th	fine tbe 11 ne	new sedi new bott sedi obsi con moc poo 10 Wat avai and are	grave iment bars om af iment tructic strictio derate ls pre g er fills ilable /or riff	on old 50-8 fected depoins, ons ar depoins valent 8 25-7 chanr le sub	nd or i d and 0% of i; sits at nd ber sition sition 5% of nel, ostrate osed.	the the inds; in 6 the es	dev 80° cha poo to s dep 5 Ve cha pre poo	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	I, incomentation operations the limos tantia ion. 3 the wat and a set	t; mc oottor quer t abs al sec 2 ater in mos	ed barre th n tily; ent c dime 1 1	due nt
Sediment deposition SCORE 5. Channel flow status SCORE	of is and bott sedi 20 Wat bott mini chai expo 20	19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19	or po han 2 fected depos 18 ches r bank moun ubstra 18	17 base ks, and t of ate is	16 of 16	bar from sedi bott dep 15 15 Wat avai <25 subs 15	forman grav imenti om af osition 14 strate	13 3 >759 chann is exp	12 % of thel; or el boosed	fine the 11 ne	new sedi new bott sedi obsi con poo 10 Wat avai are 10	grave ment bars om af iment tructic striction lerate striction lerate spre 9 (or riff most) 9	son old 50-8 fected ons, ons ar depo valent 8 25-7 chanr le sub y expo	and or if d and 0% of i; sits at nd ber sition 7 5% of nel, ostrate osed. 7	the the inds; in 6 the es	ma dev 80° cha pod to s dep 5 Ve cha pre pod 5	4 ry littl anne ols. 4 ry littl anne ols. 4	I, incommer the I ing free Imos tantia ion. 3 I and the wa I and t as s	t; mc pottor equer t abs al sec 2 ater in t mos tand	ed bare th n tly; ent d lime 1 tly ng 1	due nt 0
Sediment deposition SCORE 5. Channel flow status SCORE 6. Channel alteration	of is and bott sedi 20 Wat bott mini chai exp 20 Cha drec mini norr	lands less t om af iment 19 eer rea lowe imal a osed. 19 nnel s osed. 19 nnel s osed.	or po han 2 fected depose 18 cches r bank moun ubstra 18 sation abser strean titern.	17 base sks, and t of ate is 17 or t or t or t or t or t or t or	f the f the of d	bar from sedi bott dep 15 Wat avai <255 subs 15 Som press of b evid chaa drec 20 y but chaa press	forman n gravv iment, om af osition 14 errills schole strate 14 errills sent, t lence anneliz dging rr) ma recen nneliz sent.	tion, r el, sa ; 20-5 fected n in po 13 3 >755 chann chann is exq 13 anneli usually sually of pas ation, (great t t	12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 12 Tation 13 Tation 14 Tation 15 Ta	fine the 11 ne 11 eas	new sedi new sedi obsi con: moc poo 10 Wat avai and are 10 Cha exte or s pres and read disr	graviument bars om af pars om af pars bars bars bars bars bars bars bars b	al, sar on old 50-8 fectec depo: ons, ons ar depo valent 8 s 25-7 chanr le sub y expo 8 s 25-7 chanr i e sub y expo 8 s ation n bott 8 80%	rid or i d and or i d and 0% of i; sits at ad ber sition 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	tine the the ds; in 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	source and a second sec	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	I, incomer the ting free Imos tantition. 3 Idle wa I and tantition. 3 Schore or ce the s lized ed. I grea id en	2 atter ili and with treas al sec 2 atter ili trand and with treas and nstreas and nstreas and nstreas and atter ili and atter ili and atter ili atter ili i	ed barre th n ttly; ent c lime 1 ttly ng 1 ttly ng 1 ttly ng n re- am erec	due nt 0 er ach d or

Continued over

AUSRIVAS Physical and Chemical Assessment Protocol Field Data Sheets Page 11 Site No. _____ Date _____

USEPA Habitat Assessment

LOW GRADIENT STREAMS

Page 2 of 2

Circle a score for each parameter

Habitat				Condition category												
parameter		Exc	ellent			Good			Fair			Poor				
7. Channel sinuosity	The incru long strat char coas low- para rate	bends i ease the per than ight line. addered i stal plain lying an umeter is d in the	n the s stream times if it was (Note iding is normal hs and pas. The s not es pe area	in a - in other us isiy s).	The be increas length longer straigh	nds in the the stro 2 to 3 tim than if it v t line.	e stream ea was in a	The be increas 2 times was in	nds in the e the stre i longer th a straight	astream am 1 to an if it line.	Channel straight; wäterway has been channelized for a long distance.					
SCORE	20	19 1	8 17	16	15 1	4 13	12 11	10 9	8	76	5 4	3 2	1 0			
8. Bank stability (score each bank)	Ban of er abso pote prot affer	ks stable rosion o ant or m ntial for items cted.	a; evide r bank i inimal; future d5% of	nce laiture little bank	Modera infrequ of eros over, 5 reach h erosion	itely stab ent, smal ion mosth 5-30% of 1 tas areas	le; lareas y head base in	Modera 60% of has are high en during	tely unst bank in r as of ero osion pob floods.	able; 30- each sion; ential	Upstable; many eroded reas; 'raw' areas frequent along straight sections and bends; obvious bank sloughing; 60-100% of bank has erosional sears.					
SCORE	Left bank 10 9				8	F	6	A	4	3	2	1	0			
SCORE	Flig?	nt bank	10	9	8	7	~	Q,		3	2	1	0			
9. Vegetative protection (score each bank)	Mon stree and zone voge trees shru mac disru graz mini almo to gr	a than 9 ambank immedia a covere station, i s, under bs, or n rophytes uption th ing or m mal or n mal or n tost all pli ow natu	0% of t surface ate ripa d by na netudin storey on woo s; vege rough owing ot evid ants all rally.	he trian trive g dy tative ant; owed	70-90% stream of plant represe evident full plan to any to the pob stubble remain	s of the bank surf d by nativ ion, but of s is not w ented; dis i but not a tit growth great exte an one h antial plau height ng.	ace e me class rell- nuption (flecting potential ent; alf e	50-70% stream covoci disupli patches closely vegetal than on potentia height	of the eank surfi- d by vege- ion obvice s of bare s cropped ion comm ion c	aces tation; is; soll or non; less the ubble	Less th stream covered disrupti vegetat remove centime average	an 50% o bank surfi 5 by vege on of stra ion is ven ion has b d to 5 stres or la a stubble	f the sces tation; ambank y high; son ss in height.			
SCORE	Left	bank	10	9	8	1	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			
SCORE	Righ	ıt bank	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			
10. Riparian zone score (score each bank)	Widt >18 activ lawn not i zone	h of rips metres; ities (i.e s, crops mpactes),	irian zo human . roads : etc.) h i the rip	ne ave varian	Width o 12-18 n activitie the ripa minima	f riparian netres; hu s have in rian zone Ily.	zone iman ipacted only	Width o 12 metr activitie the rips deal.	if riparlan res; huma s have im rian zone	zone 6- n pacted a great	Width of riparian zone <6 metres; little or no riparian vegatation is present because of human activities.					
SCORE	Left	bank	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			
SCORE	Righ	it bank	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			

TOTAL LOW GRADIENT HABITAT SCORE







